# MAPPING QTL FOR FUSARIUM HEAD BLIGHT RESISTANCE IN CHINESE WHEAT LANDRACES

by

JIN CAI

B.S., Xuzhou Normal University, China, 2008

### A THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

### MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Agronomy College of Agriculture

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2012

Approved by:

Major Professor Allan Fritz

## Abstract

Fusarium head blight (FHB) is one of the most devastative diseases in wheat. Growing resistant cultivars is one of the most effective strategies to minimize the disease damage. Huangcandou (HCD) is a Chinese wheat landrace showing a high level of resistance to FHB spread within a spike (type II). To identify quantitative traits loci (QTL) for resistance in HCD, a population of 190 recombinant inbred lines (RILs) were developed from a cross between HCD and Jagger, a susceptible hard winter wheat (HWW) released in Kansas. The population was evaluated for type II resistance at the greenhouses of Kansas State University. After initial marker screening, 261 polymorphic simple-sequence repeats (SSR) between parents were used for analysis of the RIL population. Among three QTL identified, two from HCD were mapped on the short arms of chromosomes 3B (3BS) and 3A (3AS). The QTL on the distal end of 3BS showed a major effect on type II resistance in all three experiments. This QTL coincides with a previously reported Fhb1, and explained 28.3% of phenotypic variation. The QTL on 3AS explained 9.7% of phenotypic variation for mean PSS over three experiments. The third QTL from chromosome 2D of Jagger explained 6.5% of phenotypic variation. Allelic substitution using the closest marker to each QTL revealed that substitution of Jagger alleles of two QTL on 3AS and 3BS with those from HCD significantly reduced the PSS. HCD containing both QTL on 3AS and 3BS with a large effect on type II resistance can be an alternative source of FHB resistance for improving FHB type II resistance in wheat. Besides, meta-analyses were used to estimate 95% confidence intervals (CIs) of 24 mapped QTL in five previously mapped populations derived from Chinese landraces: Wangshuibai (WSB), Haiyanzhong (HYZ), Huangfangzhu (HFZ), Baishanyuehuang (BSYH) and Huangcandou (HCD). Nineteen QTL for FHB type II resistance were projected to 10 QTL clusters. Five QTL on chromosomes 1A, 5A, 7A, and 3BS (2) were identified as confirmed QTL that have stable and consistent effects on FHB resistance and markers in these meta-QTL regions should be useful for marker-assisted breeding.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Figures	v
List of Tables	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
Chapter 1 - LITERATURE REVIEW	1
Impacts of <i>Fusarium</i> head blight	1
Causal organism, inoculums sources and dispersion	2
FHB symptoms and infection pathway	3
Factors affecting FHB infection and development	4
FHB resistance mechanism	5
FHB resistant sources	8
Other FHB control measures	9
Genetics of FHB resistance and heritability	11
Molecular markers and genetic maps	11
QTL for FHB resistance	13
Breeding strategies	17
Chapter 2 - Mapping QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in Chinese wheat land	drace
Huangcandou (HCD)	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Plant materials and FHB evaluation	
DNA extraction and genotyping	
Data analysis	
Results	
FHB in HCD × Jagger population	
Linkage maps and QTL for FHB resistance	
Effects of QTL on FHB resistance	
Discussion	
Chapter 3 - Meta-analysis of FHB resistance QTL in Chinese wheat landraces	41

Introduction	41
Materials and Methods	43
Plant materials, FHB evaluation and marker analysis	43
Map construction and meta-analysis of QTL from multiple populations	43
Results and Discussion	44
QTL for type II resistance and QTL Cluster	44
QTL with a Major Effect on FHB Resistance	45
QTL with a Minor, but stable Effect on FHB Resistance	46
Conclusions	47
References	62

# **List of Figures**

# List of Tables

Table 1.1 Review of FHB resistance QTL
Table 2.1 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) of percentage of symptomatic spikelets (PSS) data for
the RIL based on three greenhouse experiments
Table 2.2 Flanking markers, logarithm of the odds (LOD), coefficients of determination $(R^2)$ of
the significant QTL regions detected by composite interval mapping based on spring 2010,
fall 2010 and spring 2011 greenhouse FHB data
Table 3.1 Previously published chromosome locations of QTL for Fusarium head blight (FHB)
type II resistance in five Chinese landraces
Table 3.2 Summary of Fusarium head blight (FHB) type II resistance Quantitative trai loci (QTL)
in wheat and their chromosome location, number of QTL, and clusters identified in five
Chinese wheat landraces
Table 3.3 Summary of QTL locations and CIs from the ten QTL clusters 61

# Acknowledgements

I wish to acknowledge the US Wheat and Barley Scab Initiative for funding to support my Master's research project. I extend my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Guihua Bai for his guidance, support and encouragement during my stay in Kansas State University. Special thanks go to members of my supervisory committee, Drs. Jianming Yu and Allan Fritz for their valuable advice and encouragement to improve my research. I am very thankful to Drs. Paul St. Amand, Shubing Liu, and Amy Bernardo for their valuable advice and support given to me though out my research. Further a big thank goes to my past lab members Drs. Dadong Zhang, Xiaojia Ji, Zhengli Liu, and Xianghui Zhang and to my friends Feng Jin, Xia Li, Xiaofei Wang, Meng Lin, Yue Lu and Xiping Yang for their help and encouragement at all times. A note of appreciation goes to all the student assistants who helped me throughout the research. I acknowledge the faculty, graduate students and staff of Department of Agronomy, Kansas State University of their support and encouragement. A special thanks to Ms Yun Wu for the help given in QTL Meta-analysis statistical software. Last but not least, to my family for their selfless support, love and encouragement.

### **Chapter 1 - LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### Impacts of *Fusarium* head blight

*Fusarium* head blight (FHB) is a devastative disease that can cause severe reduction in grain yield and quality in humid and semi-humid wheat growing regions worldwide (Bai and Shaner, 1994). When warm and wet weather coincides with anthesis and early kernel filling period, fungus can easily infect wheat plants and develop FHB. Fusarium infected florets often fail to produce kernels if infection occurs early or produce partially filled kernels that weight much less than normal ones. The infected kernels are light-weighted and very likely removed during threshing process, which significantly reduces harvested grain yield. FHB infection also lowers grain quality by reducing test weights and contaminating grain with mycotoxins such as Deoxynivalenol (DON) and zearalenone (De Wolf, 2003). Thus, FHB infection also causes severe impacts on the quality of cereals due to undeveloped kernels and mycotoxin accumulation. A significant positive relationship was observed between aggressiveness of the isolates and DON produced in the infected grain (Parry et al. 1995). This suggests DON content might be a virulence component (Burlakoti et al., 2010; Bai et al., 2001; Desjardins et al., 1996). In addition, high DON content is also a food safety concern. Consumption of grain products contaminated with mycotoxins is detrimental to human and animal health. As low as 1 ppm of DON can cause significant reduction in feed intake and lower weight gain in animals, and 10 ppm DON can cause vomiting and feed refusal (De Wolf et al. 2003). For human consumption, the acceptable DON levels in wheat have been set from 0.5 ppm to 2 ppm varied with countries. Thus, FHB not only reduces grain yield but also significantly lowers grain value in marketing, exporting, processing and feeding (Mcmullen, 1997).

FHB epidemics have been reported from many countries in Asia, Europe, North America and South America (Bai and shaner, 1994; Goswami and Kisler, 2004). In China, FHB has affected more than 7 million hectares of wheat and has caused more than 1 million tons of yield losses in 1990's (Bai and Shaner, 2004). In the U.S.A., direct value losses due to FHB from 1991 to 1997 in FHB-affected regions were estimated at \$1.3 billion with the cumulative economy losses as high as \$4.8 billion (Johnson, 1998). North and South Dakota and Minnesota suffered most from FHB outbreaks, accounted for about two-thirds of the total dollar losses due to all

diseases (Nganje, 2004). In 1996, FHB has expanded to more than ten states in the central Great Plains areas of U.S.A. The disease continue to spread in Europe and South America, thus, FHB in wheat has become one of the most important crop diseases around the world.

#### Causal organism, inoculums sources and dispersion

About 19 *Fusarium* species can cause FHB (Liddell, 2003). Among major causal species, including *F. culmorum*, *F. graminearum*, *Microdochium nivale*, *M. majus*, *F. avenaceum*, and *F. poae* as (Xu and Nicholson, 2009), *F. graminearum* is the predominant FHB causal species in most areas of the world. Within *F. graminearum*, isolates may differ in virulence. For example, Chinese isolates may be more virulent than the isolates from U.S.A. (Bai et al., 2001; Lu et al., 2001). However, consistent specificity of cultivar resistance and pathogen virulence was not observed and proof evidence for race differentiation has not been found (Lu et al., 2001; Bai et al., 1996). Hence use of a mixture of different *F. graminearum* isolates as inoculums to screen FHB resistance is a common practice for inoculation (Bai et al., 1996, Zhou et al., 2002b).

*Fusarium* can survive in crop residues between host crop cycles. Ascospores, macroconidia, chlamydospores, and hyphal fragments can be all used as initial inoculums for infection (Bai and Shaner 2004, Dill-Macky 2003) with ascospores as the primary inocula during natural infection. However, *F. graminearum* conidia are often used as inoculums for experimental inoculation due to its easiness for production (Dill-Macky, 2003). In nature, *F. graminearum* forms perithecia to produce ascospores (*Gibberrella zeae* (Schw.) Petch). Very thick wall of perithecia can keep the fungus viable throughout the winter, which provides the pathogen a potential epidemiological advantage to overwinter (Xu and Nicholson, 2009). In late spring, matured perithecia forcibly discharge their ascospores into air when high moisture is available to initiate initial infection in wheat during wheat flowering (Webster and Weber, 2007). Thus, crop residuals from previous crop seasons are major sources of inoculum, and increased tillage may lower residue retention and the amount of overwintering inocula.

Wind blowing and rain splash are considered to be common mode of disease spread although birds and insects can also be the vectors of inoculum dispersion. Wind blows spores for long distance and rain splash can transfers them from crop debris on ground level to wheat heads (Frances et al., 2009). Upon reaching wheat head, ascospores will germinate and colonize in the wheat tissues of spikes to start infection.

#### FHB symptoms and infection pathway

Visible FHB infection symptom starts with tan or brown discoloration at the base of an inoculated floret (Wolf et al., 2003). A few days later, this light tan or bleached symptom will spread to entire inoculated spikelets. For resistant cultivars, the symptom could be limited to the inoculated spikelet without spread to adjacent uninoculated spikelets. However, for susceptible plants, the fungus invades rachis and spreads up and down to the entire spike if the weather is favorable for disease development. Infected florets on the spike can be infertile, or kernels become shriveled, bleached and chalky, also known as "tombstone", if they are produced (Bai and Shaner, 1994).

During initial infection, conidia begin to germinate 6-12 h after the initial contact, and then germ tubes give rise to hyphae that will grow and extend on the interior surface to form dense mycelium networks (Xu and Nicholson, 2009). Hyphae grows through the interior surfaces of lemma, glume, and palea. After 24 to 36 h, hyphae may reach ovary. This infection process throughout floral parts is nonselective (Argyris et al., 2005). The fungus may enter the host tissue through stomata. Upon pathogen penetrating rachilla and rachis, disease will spread upward and downward on heads through vascular bundles and cortical parenchyma tissue (Goswami et al., 2004; Bushnell et al., 2003). Mycelium would clog the vascular tissue in the rachis that can cause head to premature and grains to be shriveled due to lacking of supply of water and nutrition (Xu and Nicholson, 2009). Other than that, stomata on glumes can be another entry point (Pritsch et al., 1999). Although anther can be the first part to be infected during FHB development. Then the disease spread horizontally from anthers to glumes, and vertically from anthers to rachis (Rinichich et al., 2000). However, the infection process normally occurred on the inner surfaces of lemma, glume, palea and rachis, not necessary through anthers (Xu and Nicholson, 2009). During colonization of wheat heads, the pathogen may secrete cell wall degradation enzymes that can decompose the host cells including cell wall, cytoplasm and cell organelles (Xu and Nicholson, 2009).

The pathogen hyphae may reach adjacent spikelets from initial infection site in two ways: through vascular bundles or stomata. When the weather is favorable, the fungal hyphae may penetrate rachilla and rachis, spread inter- or intra-cellularlly upward and downward on heads through vascular bundles and cortical parenchyma tissue to infect other neighboring spikelets (Goswami et al., 2004). Mycelium may also spread through outside glum from initially diseased

spikelets to those uninfected spikelets (Ribichich et al., 2000). The hyphae can produce mycotoxins in 36 h after inoculation, which could be transferred upward and downward to the neighboring uninfected spikelets through xylem vessels and phloem sieve tubes (Kang and Buchenauer, 1999). Thus, given favorable environments and adequate time, toxins contamination between spikelets is unavoidable (Xu and Nicholson, 2009). Infection spread from spikes to spikes (secondary infection) is rare if any.

Disease symptoms are different between resistant and susceptible cultivars. In resistant plants, a dark-brown discoloration appears on an inoculated spikelet. In some cases, only a small dark brown spot could be observed on the lemma (Bai and Shanner, 1994). In FHB favorable conditions, the symptoms may spread to neighboring spikelets through vascular bundle, but it occurs very late, at least two weeks, and most spikelets in the spikes remains uninfected and still set normal seeds. However, in susceptible plants, entire inoculated spikes can be blighted with bleach discolorations on spikelets and dark brown rachis and culm. Infection spreads quickly to uninoculated spikes, usually in a week after inoculation and whole spike can be blighted in 7-10 days after inoculation. Thus resistant cultivars show much lower final disease severity than susceptible cultivars (Ribichich et al., 2000).

#### **Factors affecting FHB infection and development**

Environmental factors have a significant impact on expression of FHB resistance as reflected by FHB incidence and severity (Parry et al. 1995, Bai and Shanner, 1994). Warm temperature and high humidity coinciding with wheat anthesis favor FHB development. For greenhouse experiments, 20- 25 °C has been considered as a favorable temperature (Bai and Shaner, 1994, Brennan et al., 2005). Wet period during anthesis is also necessary for initial infection. The wet period that required for a high infection rate may vary with temperatures. It may take longer time for symptom development under low temperature (16 °C); and incubation period can be decreased with the increase of temperature (Rossi et al., 2001).

Flower stage is the most susceptible stage for wheat to get infection by FHB pathogen although some cultivars may be susceptible at the beginning of caryopsis development (Bai and Shaner, 2004; Lu et al., 2001). Anthers contain a high level of chemicals such as choline and betaine that can facilitate the growth of *Fusarium* and function as initial infection points for fungus to enter spike tissues (Bai and Shanner, 1994). Given abundance of primary inoculums

and optimum weather condition during anthesis stage, *F. graminearum* can cause severe FHB epidemics (Bai and Shaner, 1994). A positive relationship between width and duration of flower opening and incidence of FHB in wheat has been reported, because wider flower opening allows a larger area for *Fusarium* spores to enter a floret to initiate infection (Gilsinger et al., 2005).

Agriculture practices such as crop rotation and crop management also have effects on FHB. Continuing to grow susceptible cultivars can increase initial inocula thus the FHB incidence (Dill-Macky and Jones, 2000). Wheat and non-host crop rotations may reduce the head blight incidence (Champeil et al., 2004). Limited soil tillage increases initial inoculum survival rate, and raises the FHB incidence, while ploughing (deep tillage) reduce inocula (McMullen et al. 1997, Dill-Macky et al. 2000, Teich et al. 1989, Krebs et al. 2000), to some extent, also modifies microclimate of the soil, and therefore reduces the development of *Fusarium*. Irrigation may also influence soil structure, and increases FHB frequency and severity. In addition to sowing date, wind speed, weeds, canopy (crop residue) density (Dill-Macky et al. 2000) can all affect FHB pathogen development.

#### FHB resistance mechanism

Mechanisms of resistance to *Fusarium* in wheat are classified as morphological or physiological (Gilsinger et al., 2005). Morphological mechanisms refer to these crop traits that lead to unfavorable conditions for FHB to initiate infection, such as plant height, awnness, and degree of flower opening during flowering (Gilsinger et al., 2005). Plants with wide opening florets are more susceptible to FHB. Physiological mechanism involves biochemical pathways that produce chemicals to prohibit pathogens growth after initial infections. Resistance to FHB is considered to be non-race specific. Resistant wheat genotypes show similar reactions against different isolates of *F. graminearum* (T *c* th et al., 2008).

FHB resistance can be phenotypically classified into five categories: type I, resistance to initial penetration of the pathogen; type II: resistance to disease spread within a spike; type III: resistance to kernel infection; type IV: tolerance and type V: resistance to accumulation of DON (Mesterhazy et al., 1999). Among them, type I, II and V are commonly accepted (Schroeder and Christensen, 1963, Miller, et al., 1985), but type V is usually referred as type III. Type I resistance is a major type of resistance in barley (Steffenson et al., 2003), type II is more stable resistance in wheat (Bai and Shaner, 2004; Kolb, 2001), while type III is evaluated for both

barley and wheat. Type II resistance can be evaluated by point inoculation to a single floret of a spike and rating of symptom spread, within a spike. Percentage of symptom spread (PSS) within a spike usually used as the measurement for the level of type II resistance. Using this measurement, highly resistant cultivars may have as low as 5% PSS, while highly susceptible cultivars could reach 100% PSS. Moderate resistant and susceptible cultivars are in between (Bai et al., 1999). Significant correlations between the PSS and DON content were observed in single-point inoculation experiments (Bai et al., 2001; Yu et al., 2008b). All infected grains contain DON, even in a resistant cultivar. Contradicted results have been reported in different studies (Ma et al., 2006c; Mesterhazy et al., 1999). However, DON measurement is complicated, and inoculation time, harvesting and DON testing methods may significantly alter DON measurement. Early inoculation produces small highly-infected kernels and combine threshing may not be able to keep most of infected DON containing kernels for DON measurement, which all lead to underestimation of DON in susceptible cultivars (Ma et al., 2006c; Mesterhazy et al., 1999). Bai and Shaner, 2004).

Morphological variation is more likely to be associated with primary difference in initial infection, generally referred as Type I resistance, between cultivars, while difference in biochemical pathways is associated with symptom spread variation within a spike (Type II resistance). Although the processes of infection through anthers, floral bracts, rachilla and rachis are non-selective between resistant and susceptible wheat cultivars, biochemical responses to the infection are different between resistant and susceptible cultivars. Resistant wheat cultivars may produce substances that inhibit rapid growth of mycilium within a spike to prevent sudden desiccation on the spikelets above initial infected spikelets of a spike. Resistant wheat plants may form a physical barrier or accumulate chemical compounds such as phenols and triticens that are toxic to F. graminearum (Ribichich et al., 2000). These physical barriers include thickened cell wall and deposition of amorphous materials that can delay the disease progression. Trichothecenes may not be virulence factors for FHB initial infection of wheat floret (Bai et al., 2001; Jansen et al., 2005). When green fluorescence protein (GFP) labeled wild type and trichothecene knock-out mutant of F. graminearum strains were used to inoculate wheat, hyphae enters the cytosol of the epicarp cells in wheat, and leads to a cell death no matter inoculated with wild or mutant type of F. graminearum (Jansen et al., 2005). However, the action of DON may promote the spreading of *F.graminearum* in wheat from on infected spikelet to other ones

by hyphae growth through rachis nodes (Bai et al., 2001; Jansen et al., 2005). However, DON may be detected in the infected kernels no matter the level of FHB resistance. Low DON content in resistant cultivars may be due to small amount of DON produced by the *F. graminearum*, DON degradation enzymes produced by wheat, and accumulation in spike tissues rather than kernels (Bai and Shaner, 2004). Some mapping studies detected that major resistance QTL for low FHB severity was associated to low DON content in wheat. (Jayatilake et al., 2011; Bai et al., 2000; Pena et al., 1999).

FHB pathogen development induces defense response genes during early infection of wheat spikes. The induced genes include pathogen resistant proteins PR-1, PR-2 ( $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase), PR-3 (chitinase), PR-4, and PR-5 (thaumatin-like protein) (Pritsch et al., 1999). Transcripts for the five defense-related genes are detected 6 to 12 h after inoculation, and peaked at 36 to 48 h after inoculation. More and earlier accumulation of PR-4 and PR-5 transcripts was observed in resistant cultivars than susceptible cultivars (Bai and Shaner, 2004). A recent study reveals that a plant cytochrome P450 gene, CYP709CI, was associated with resistance in both spikes and seedlings (Li et al., 2010). Li and Yen (2008) indicated PR proteins might have nothing to do with FHB resistance, instead, Jasmonate (JA) and Ethylene (ET) mediated defense responses are important in wheat resistance to FHB based on observation that resistant wheat plants can have elevated JA or ET biosynthesis after inoculation (Li and Yen, 2008, Ding et al. 2011). JA and ET are proposed to be important signaling pathways in plant defense response to FHB pathogen infection (Ding et al. 2011). In JA pathway, lipoxygenase (LOX2) and chalcone synthase are up-regulated in resistant wheat plants but not in susceptible ones. ET can stimulate plant organs to senescence, which leads to cell wall dissolving and cell death (Li and Yen, 2008).

Biochemical composition in wheat may affect the resistance level of a cultivar (Brown and Brindle, 2007). Choline was considered to be the most influential metabolite. Other than that, betaine, the amino acids glutamine, glutamate and alanine, trans-aconitate and sucrose are correlated with FHB fungus (Brown and Brindle, 2007). Brown and Brindle (2007) reported a significant correlation between metabolic profiles and fungal hyphae growth. However, Engle et al. (2004) did not find any significant correlation of fungal hyphae or spore growth associated with the metabolic levels. Thus, the biochemical mechanisms of FHB resistance are still debatable.

#### **FHB** resistant sources

Growing FHB resistant wheat cultivars is the most effective and economic method in FHB management (Bai and Shaner, 2004). Differences between cultivars in susceptibility to FHB were firstly reported in 19<sup>th</sup> century in US (Arthur et al., 1891). Since then, many breeders have attempted to find resistant sources. Although completely FHB immune cultivars have not been found (Fang et al., 1997), cultivars with various levels of resistance have been reported worldwide (Bai and Shaner, 2004). Most of highly resistant sources are from China and Japan (Bai et al., 2003b, Lu et al., 2001). In China, more than 30,000 Triticum accessions have been screened since 1980s (Fang et al., 1997), but only a small portion of them have good resistance, including Sumai3 and Wangshuibai (Bai and Shaner, 2004, Fang et al., 1997, Rudd et al. 2001). Sumai3, as well as its derivatives such as 'Ning7840', are the mostly used FHB resistance source in breeding programs (Bai and Shaner, 1996, Kolb et al., 2001, Rudd et al., 2001), because of its high heritability, stable resistance across environments (Rudd et al., 2001). Chinese landrace Wangshuibai is another highly FHB resistant source that is unrelated to Sumai3 (Jia et al., 2005b; Lin et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2008c; Zhou et al., 2004). However, attempt to use this source as resistant parent in breeding was not successful due to its many undesired agronomic traits (Bai and Shanner, 2004). Some Japanese cultivars such as Shinchunaga, Nobeokabouzu and Nyu Bai also showed a high level of FHB resistance (Bai and Shanner, 2004; Ban, 2000), but they all have poor agronomic traits which are difficult to be separated from resistance using conventional breeding. Besides resistance from Asia, many germplasm from American also show a good level of resistance, e.g., Frontana and Encruzilhada from Brazil (Ban, 2001; Mesterhazy, 1995; Singh et al. 1997), Ernie and Freedom from the U.S.A. (Rudd et al., 2001) were all reported to have a reasonable level of FHB resistance.

For FHB type II resistance in most of sources, additive effects play a major part in genetic effects, thus pyramiding of different genes in a wheat cultivar can upsurge FHB resistance in wheat (Bai and Shaner, 2000). In addition to highly resistant cultivars, moderately resistant cultivars are also good sources of breeding parents (Waldron et al., 1999). Moderate resistance may be easier to be achieved and can be easily to combine with desired agronomic traits. 'Alsen' was the first moderately resistant spring wheat cultivar released by NDSU (Mergoum et al., 2007). Alsen contains the *Fhb1* QTL for FHB resistance from Sumai3 with other QTL from native backgrounds as well as great agronomic performance, such as yield

potential and end use quality (Mergoum et al., 2007). In US hard spring wheat region, 54% of acreage was grown moderately resistant cultivars in 2011 (Connie, 2012). Some of the moderate resistant cultivars contain QTL from known FHB resistant parents, such as *Fhb1* from Sumai 3, while others may contain native resistant genes from local adapted parents. A cross between moderately resistant or moderately susceptible parents may generate highly resistant progenies. A good example is the well-known highly resistant cultivar Sumai3. It was developed by crossing two moderately susceptible parents, Funo and Taiwanmai (Bai et al., 2000). Thus, the resistance was derived by selection from transgressive segregation of resistance. One of advantages to use moderately resistant or moderately susceptible cultivars as a source of resistance is to allow a quick combination of genetically diverse resistant genes in more adapted genetic backgrounds. Some of the moderate resistant cultivars were mapped in breeding programs, such as Chokwang (Yang et al., 2005b), Frontana (Mardi et al., 2006) and Chinese spring (Grausgruber et al., 1999).

In addition, alien chromosome introgressions were used as an effective way to breed resistant cultivars. The same as homologous chromosome pairing during meiosis stage, the alien chromatin from monosomic alien addition line will recombine or translocate with the homologous to transfer resistant genes from alien sources to adapted common wheat (Cai et al., 2008). Such as *Fhb3* on chromosome 7A translocated from an alien species *leymus racemosus* (Qi et al., 2008). However, the biggest issues of this method are linkage drag and epistatic effects (Cai et al., 2005). Besides, genetic engineering provides novel approaches to develop transgenic wheat to enhance FHB resistance. Some examples are transgenic wheat expressing a barley class II chitinase (Shin et al., 2008), over-expressing the defense response genes  $\alpha$ -1-purothionin, thaumatin-like protein1 and  $\beta$ -1.3-glucanase (Caroline et al., 2007), expression of an antibody fusion protein comprising a *Fusarium* –specific recombinant antibody derived from chicken and an antifungal peptide from *Aspergillus giganteus*, expression of Arabidopsis *NPR1* gene (Makandar et al., 2006) etc.

#### **Other FHB control measures**

Besides cultivar resistance, weather is one of the key factors that determine epidemics of FHB. Wet and warm conditions facilitate all stages of development of the fungus (Champeil et al., 2004). Cultural practices that minimize initial inoculum can reduce the FHB epidemics. Crop

rotation (Dill-Macky and Jones, 2000) and growing less susceptible crops (Champeil et al., 2004, McMullen et al., 1997, Dill-Macky et al., 2000) can be effective practices. Crop residues left on the soil surface are the major reservoir of inoculums (Bai and Shaner, 2004, Shaner, 2002). Traditional tillage practices left crop residues at the surface of soil after harvesting, which brings a high potential of FHB outbreak (Dill-Macky, 2008). Deep tillage can decrease the frequency of FHB outbreak (McMullen et al., 1997, Dill-Macky et al., 2000, Krebs et al., 2000) because ploughing buries inocula. Irrigation of wheat field may increase FHB infection, especially during anthesis, by providing moisture for spores development and release as well as establishing initial infection in wheat florets. Besides, early sowing or growing early maturity cultivars may escape heavy FHB infection in some locations (Champeil et al., 2004). Prior inoculation using other weak pathogen isolates (F. culmorum, F. avenaceum, F. poae etc.) has also been proposed to induce resistance by activating the host's defense response to provide cross protection to host plants (Diamond et al., 2003). Application of fungicides is still a major method for FHB control in commercial production. The effectiveness of fungicide application varies by active ingredient, method and date of application (Homdork et al., 2000). Using fungicides with specific active ingredients (triazoles containing tebuconazole) at a couple of days before a flowering season can be effective. However, difficulties in determination of an optimal time for fungicide application, high cost and lacking of fungicides with specific active ingredient are all problems involved with fungicide application (Bai and Shanner, 2004, Homdork et al., 2000). Suitable fungicide will reduce FHB severity and DON accumulation, especially in moderately resistant cultivars (Wegulo et al., 2011).

Inhibition of FHB through biological control agents is more environmental friendly compared with chemical control. Attempts to use biological control agents against FHB have been reported from several studies (Henkes et al., 2011, Petti et al., 2010, Khan and Doohan, 2009). But it is only a prosperous addition to current FHB manage-programs, and further studies are needed for a large-scale application in field. Therefore, no single solution is available for FHB control. A combination of cultural practices, chemical treatments, and use of resistant cultivars should be the best solution for FHB control.

#### Genetics of FHB resistance and heritability

FHB resistance is a quantitative trait that is controlled by multiple QTL or genes, and the expression of the resistance is greatly affected by environments (Jia et al., 2005b; Bai et al., 2000; Parry et al., 1995). Some reports showed that many minor genes controlled the resistance (Chen et al., 1983; Liao and Yu, 1985), while others concluded that a few major genes plus some minor genes might control the resistance (Bai et al., 1990; Yao et al., 1997). The minimum number of genes for FHB resistance was estimated to be one to three (Bai et al., 2000). Additive effect is a major component of genetic variation for FHB resistance (Bai et al. 2000) although epistasis might also play important role in some populations. Thus it is possible to pyramid several genes from different resistant sources to enhance wheat FHB resistance. It is also possible to select FHB resistant lines from transgressive segregations that would be superior to the lines that they derived from (Yang et al., 2005a; Bai et al., 2000).

#### Molecular markers and genetic maps

Molecular marker is becoming the most popular tool in modern plant breeding. Conventional crop breeding mainly relies on direct selection of morphological variation in breeding populations. Earliest marker used in breeding was morphological markers (Stadler et al., 1929). The phenotypes associated with phenotypic variation such as pigment differences, vernalization habit and plant height etc. were used as indirect selection criteria. However, morphological markers were not extensively used due to its limitation on number of available markers (Worland et al. 1987). Protein isozymes replaced morphological markers in 1970s (Market and Moller, 1959), but it has not been widely used in breeding (Tanksley, 1983). DNA markers are abundant, easy to be assayed and have become popular since 1980s.

Molecular markers can be classified into three categories: hybridization based, PCRbased and sequencing based. Hybridization- based markers include restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP; Botstein et al., 1980), fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH), and microarray for marker detection. In 1990's, PCR-based markers are invented, which includes random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD; Williams et al., 1990), amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP; Vos et al., 1995), and simple sequence repeats (SSRs; Akkaya et al., 1992) etc. PCR-based markers quickly became popular because it needs small amount of DNA, without needing of radioisotopes, ability to amplify DNA from preserved tissues; high level of

polymorphism that enables to generate molecular markers very fast; and ability to screen many genes simultaneously. The sequence-based markers include single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs; Jordan and Humphries 1994), sequence tag sites (STSs) and expressed sequence tags (ESTs; Gupta et al., 1999). Microsatellite markers (SSRs) are 1-6bp tandem repeats, highly abundant, high polymorphic, and widely distributed throughout genomes. Many SSRs are locus specific and can be used as framework for linkage mapping (Gupta et al., 1999). SSR analysis requires small amount of DNA, fits high throughput analysis and has high reproducibility. Thus SSR is suitable for QTL mapping and validation (McCartney et al., 2004). Another type of DNA marker is STS (Olsen et al., 1989), a unique DNA fragment derived from known sequences (Farooq et al., 2002; Gupta et al., 1999). More recently, the newest type marker is SNP (Jordan and Humphries 1994), which can detect individual nucleotide variation, and is suitable for high-throughput marker detection, thus it should be unlimited and is the future of markers for genetics research and breeding.

All types of molecular markers discussed above have been used for QTL mapping of FHB resistance (Anderson et al., 2001; Buerstmayr et al., 2002; Waldron et al., 1999; Mardi et al., 2005; Bai et al., 2003a; Bai et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2003; Ban et al., 2000; Buerstmayr et al., 2011; Somers et al., 2003; Chen et al. 2007; Liu et al., 2007; Steiner et al., 2004; Ma et al., 2006c; Cuthbert et al., 2006; Liu and Anderson, 2003; Bernardo et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2008a). These markers have been used to construct genetic linkage maps to locate QTL positions for FHB resistance. Relative positions of genetic markers are arranged in linkage maps according to recombination frequency (RF) among markers. According to marker trait relationship in the map, QTL are located to certain map locations.

Because each map is developed using different populations, marker positions in different maps from different populations may be different. A map combining all map information from several different populations (a consensus map) may be more useful reference for determining consensus chromosome locations of markers and QTL. In wheat, the first genetic linkage map with 279 SSR markers were constructed in 1990s' (Roder et al. 1998). In 2004, Somers used 4 populations and developed a wheat consensus map with 1,235 SSR markers (Somers et al. 2004). This consensus map provides framework for mapping QTL for traits of interest in different mapping populations and for map based cloning of different genes/QTL (Somers et al. 2004).

#### QTL for FHB resistance

Quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping using DNA marker is a highly effective approach for studying quantitative traits (Young, 1996; Tanksley, 1993). QTL mapping is used to dissect complicated traits, locate QTL underlining these traits in a genetic map, and determine their effects and interactions between QTL (Kearsey, 1998). Quantitative traits may be conditioned by several individual QTL that each may segregate in a Mendelian manner and affected by environments. By fitting phenotypic data with predicted genetic models, it is possible to estimate gene number, genotype by environment effect and heritability.

QTL mapping was firstly proposed by Sax in 1923 (Sax, 1923), and elaborated by Thoday later (Thoday, 1961). The basic concept of QTL mapping is to test the association of genomic region with the quantitative traits of interest (Mohan et al., 1997; Young, 1996). If a marker tightly linked to a QTL, the QTL will co-segregate with the marker. If a recombinant inbred population is separated into two groups based on two alleles of the marker, significant difference (P<0.05) in the trait values between groups indicates that the DNA marker is more likely linked to the QTL (Collard et al., 2005; Young, 1996). QTL mapping has been widely used to develop markers for marker-assisted selection (MAS) and map-base cloning (Buerstmayr et al., 2009; Mohan et al., 1997; Collard et al., 2005). Several factors may affect accuracy of QTL mapping. First, high-density map may provide more power for QTL detection; second, minor QTL may not be detectable especially when heritability is low; third, low heritability also results in a large confidence interval of QTL (Hyne et al., 1995); fourth, it is difficult to discriminate two QTL that are not far apart on the same chromosome (Kearsey, 1998; Young, 1996).

QTL mapping starts with mapping population. For mapping FHB resistance QTL, the parents for mapping population should show significant contrast in FHB resistance (Liu, 1998; Collard et al., 2005). Population sizes used for preliminary genetic mapping construction have been reported from 70 to 250 lines (Mohan et al., 1997), however, larger populations are required for high-resolution QTL mapping (Collard et al., 2005). Several types of populations have been utilized in QTL mapping experiments. F<sub>2</sub>, backcross (BC) (Buerstmayr et al., 1999), and recombinant inbred lines (RILs) (Waldron et al., 1999; Yu et al., 2008c), double haploid (DH) (Chen et al., 2005; Jia et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2005b) and chromosome recombinant inbred lines (RILs; Garvin et al., 2009; Ma et al., 2006a) can all be used for QTL mapping. RIL

has been more commonly used population type for FHB mapping because the same genotypes can be repeatedly evaluated for FHB in different years or locations (Collard et al., 2005), although its construction takes several years.

Several methods have been used in routine QTL mapping; single marker analysis (SMA), simple interval mapping (SIM), composite interval mapping (CIM), and multiple interval mapping (MIM) (Tanksley, 1993). SMA (single locus regression) calculates phenotypic difference between two allelic groups of each marker. A t-test at each marker can be used to identify significant trait difference between two allelic groups. If the difference is significant, the marker is assumed to link to the QTL. At the same time, genome wide type I error has to be taken into account (Lander and Botstein 1989). However, SMA cannot determine QTL locations in a map. SIM, firstly described by Lander and Botstein (1989) can determine map location (or marker interval) of a QTL. SIM, the earlier version of interval mapping, evaluates the association between the phenotypic values and a target QTL between multiple pairs of adjacent markers. The QTL genotype is estimated by flanking marker genotypes as well as marker-QTL distance (Manly and Olson, 1999). Compared with SMA, SIM improves the power of detecting QTL to some extent; and QTL locations can be better resolved in SIM. However, the disadvantages of SIM are that it cannot detect a QTL outside of the defined interval, it can not distinguish two linked QTL if they located in the same or close marker intervals (Manly and Olsen, 1999), and QTL and background effects, and only two markers are tested at each time (Zeng et al, 1993; 1994). Composite interval mapping (CIM) can solve some of the problems SIM has. It can detect hypothetic QTL by setting a certain number of markers as window size, while utilizing the background markers as cofactors to control background noises (Manly and Olsen, 1999; Jansen, 1993; Zeng et al., 1993, 1994). This refined mapping model enable us to distinguish one target QTL from the ones in adjacent intervals and thus is more efficient and precise. MIM is another method that utilizes multiple marker intervals simultaneously. It can also be used to estimate epistasis between QTL, genotypic values of individuals, and heritability of quantitative traits (Chen et al., 1999). However, the identified QTL still need to be further validated.

To detect significant QTL, a t-statistic (Zeng et al., 1994), the logarithmic of odds (LOD, Lander and Botstein, 1989) and the likelihood ratio statistics (LRS, Haley and Knott 1992) are commonly used. LOD score is a ratio between the 10-base-logarithm of likelihood of having linked QTL to the 10-base-logarithm of not having the linked QTL. LOD scores and LRS are

convertible to each other with LRS= $4.6 \times \text{LOD}$  (Liu, 1998) and both are commonly used in interval mapping to identify the most likely position of a QTL in a linkage map. If the peak or the highest point exceeds a LOD/LRS threshold the QTL is claimed to be a significant. Significant threshold of LOD or LRS is usually determined by 1000 random permutations (Churchill and Doerge, 1994). The permutation test breaks all the marker-trait associations, and shuffles all the phenotypic data while marker data remain constant. Permutation is performed to calculate the level of false positive QTL. Parameters such as LOD or LRS generated from the permutation on the random data form a distribution of LRS or LOD with  $H_{\circ}$  = no QTL associated with the markers. This process is then repeated one thousand times to determine significant threshold at a given confidence level, usually 95% (Manly and Olsen, 1999). A conservative threshold at LOD of 3.0 is also used for claiming significant QTL (Collard et al., 2005). A QTL can be located in an interval between two markers called 'flanking' markers. This QTL can be 'major' or 'minor' QTL depends on the proportion of the phenotypic variation explained by the QTL (R<sup>2</sup>). A major QTL usually explains a large portion of phenotypic variation (>10%) while a minor QTL accounts for a relatively small portion of phenotypic variation (<10%). Empirically, major QTL are more stable across environments and locations, especially for disease resistance QTL (Li et al., 2001; Collard et al., 2005).

In QTL mapping, several factors may affect the power of QTL detection. A high-density map is preferred, especially in the QTL region. A marker space less than 10 cM may have little effect on mapping result, however, marker space more than 20 cM may reduce the power of QTL detection to some extent (Collard et al., 2005). Accuracy and reproducibility of phenotypic data are important in mapping studies (Cuthbert et al., 2006; Kolb et al., 2001). For FHB resistance, environmental effect may have a huge influence on the trait scoring. Thus it is very difficult to get reproducible FHB data over different experiments, especially type I resistance because the variation can be mainly accounted by environments (Bai and Shanner, 1994). The same QTL may express various levels of resistance under different environments, and minor QTL is more sensitive to environments than a major QTL. Thus, it is necessary that QTL experiments should be done with replications across multiple locations and/or over times (George et al., 2003; Kolb et al., 2001, Collard et al., 2005; Haley and Anderson, 1997). Population size is another important factor influencing the power of detection. Larger population size can increase power in QTL detection (Darvasi et al., 1993). Quality of genotypic data may also important. Too many

missing marker scores may alter the marker orders and distances in a linkage map (Hackett, 2003). QTL can be validated using different mapping populations (Lander and Kruglyak, 1995) and near isogenic lines (NIL) that have uniform genetic background but contrasting in the QTL of interest (Pumphrey et al., 2007).

QTL for FHB resistance have been mapped on about 50 wheat cultivars covering all 21 wheat chromosomes (Table 1.1; Liu et al., 2009). Among them *Fhb1* on 3BS shows the largest effect on type II and type III resistance (Bai and Shaner, 2004). This major QTL was validated later by other studies (Anderson et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2006). The QTL on chromosome 3A, 5AS, 7A, 1B, 3BS, 4B, 5B, 6BS and 2D have been mapped in more than two populations in previous studies (Liu et al., 2009). Five of them were formally named as Fhb1 on chromosome 3BS, Fhb2 on chromosome 6B (Anderson et al., 2001), Fhb3 on Chromosome 7AS from a Wheat-Leymus introgression line (Qi et al., 2008), *Fhb4* on Chromosome 4B (Xue et al., 2010), and Fhb5 on Chromosome 5A (Xue et al., 2011). However, only the Sumai3-derived Fhb1 is now extensively used in breeding programs due to its stable effect on type II and type III resistance across different genetic backgrounds (Bai et al., 1999; Anderson et al., 2001; Buerstmayr et al., 2003; Shen et al., 2003; Bourdoncle and Ohm, 2003; Yang et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2006; Jiang et al., 2007ab). The QTL on 3BS has been reported in more than 30 studies in which Sumai 3 was the major source of resistance. It was also reported in cultivars that are not related to Sumai 3 such as Chinese landrace Wangshuibai (Lin et al. 2004; Zhou et al. 2004) and Japanese landrace Nyu Bai (Somers et al. 2003; Cuthbert et al. 2006) etc. A wide range of  $R^2$ values has even been reported for *Fhb1*, ranging from 6% to 60% for type II resistance (Bai, et al, 1999, Waldron et al., 1999, Anderson et al., 2001, Buerstmayr et al., 2002, Shen et al., 2003, Bourdoncle and Ohm 2003, Somers et al., 2003, Chen et al., 2006, Jiang et al., 2007ab, Lin et al. 2004, Zhang et al., 2004, Ma et al., 2006c, Yu et al., 2008b, Yang et al., 2005b). Besides, QTL on 6B (*Fhb2*; Anderson et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2003, Shen et al., 2003; Cuthbert et al., 2007) flanked by Xgwm133 and Xgwm644 was another major QTL that explained a wide range of phenotypic variation for disease spread from 4.4% (Shen et al., 2003) to 23% (Somers et al., 2006). The QTL on 7AS was mapped close to Xgwm276, explained 3% in Wangshuibai (Zhou et al., 2004)., while according to Recently, a novel QTL on 7A was mapped close to Xwmc17, explained 41% of FHB type II resistance (Jayatilake et al., 2011). The QTL on 5A explained 4% (Li et al., 2011), 7% (Li et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012) and 11% (Buerstmayr et al., 2002) of

phenotypic variation and was related to type I resistance. QTL for FHB resistance were mapped on almost all wheat chromosomes even on 7D (Li et al., 2011, Table 1.1) where QTL was not detected before (Buerstmayr et al., 2009). The QTL on 7D was peaked at *Xwmc121*, flanked by the SSR markers *Xcfd46* and *Xwmc702*, and explained up to 22.6% disease spread variations (Li et al., 2011).

The inconsistent numbers and locations of FHB resistant genes reported in different studies could be due to (Kolb et al, 2001): (I) some genes may segregate in some crosses but not the others; (II) different genetic backgrounds and parents used for population development; (III) some resistant alleles from susceptible parents; (IV) heterogeneous source of resistance; (V) different *Fusarium* species or different isolates of *F. graminearum* as inoculums; (VI) different types of resistance phenotyped at different environments. In addition, population size and degree of map saturation are also affect QTL detection.

#### **Breeding strategies**

To breed FHB resistant wheat, breeders desire to combine a high level of FHB resistance with favorable agronomic traits, by accumulating different genes to upsurge FHB resistance because additive effect is a major component of resistance (Bai and Shaner, 2000). Thus pyramiding FHB resistance genes from diverse gene pools and removal of susceptible genes is an effective method to upsurge the level of resistance (Ma et al., 2006b; Rudd et al., 2001). Since major QTL have a stable effect on type II resistance, transferring *Fhb1* into commercial susceptible or moderately susceptible cultivars may significantly improve the FHB resistance of cultivars in commercial production (Kolb et al., 2001). This can be achieved by backcrossing and marker-assisted selection. However many highly FHB resistant sources usually have many unadapted agronomic traits. These sources are mainly landrace such as 'Wangshuibai' or unadapted breeding lines such as Ning 7840 (Bai and Shanner, 2000). Thus, using backcross to move resistance QTL into adapted backgrounds to create middle parents may be critical for successful use of the QTL from these sources.

Owing to extensive breeding effort to improve wheat FHB resistance, many elite breeding lines and cultivars have moderate resistance or moderate susceptibility. They may either contain a few major QTL or some minor QTL for FHB resistance. Some of them are native resistance genes that may be different from the Asian resistance sources. These cultivars

can be directly used in commercial production to reduce the losses caused by FHB epidemics. They also can serve breeding parents for transferring these major QTL from Asian sources for better resistance. For example, In the U.S. spring wheat cultivars with moderately resistant were grown in more than half of the total acreage in 2011 (Connie, 2012). Some of the cultivars contain QTL from Asian sources, such as *Fhb1*, others may contain native resistance QTL.

Although Sumai3 is the major source of FHB resistance in wheat breeding programs worldwide, some other resistance sources should also be explored. Combining QTL that originated from different geographical regions can broaden the genetic diversity (Bai et al., 2003). For example, the US winter wheat cultivars Heyne, Ernie and Freedom may have different QTL from Asian sources (Bai and Shanner, 2000). An example of pyramided FHB resistance line has been reported. In that case, WSY was developed by pyramiding QTL from a 'three way crosses' among Sumai3, Wangshuibai and Nobeokabouzu (Shi et al., 2008). In the U.S.A., Some commercial soft wheat cultivars harbor FHB1 have been released, including Pioneer Brands 25R18, 25R42, and 25R51, most of them are developed by marker-assisted backcross (Brown-Guedira et al., 2008). In addition to incorporating Fhb1 as well as other minor QTL from Asia into new wheat cultivars, breeders in US also use native resistance in breeding, such as Heyne, Ernie and Freedom. These winter wheat cultivars show good FHB resistance, but do not have Fhb1 (Bai and Shaner, 2004). Truman and Bess developed at the University of Missouri, have better FHB resistance and overall performance on yield, test weight under disease pressure (Mckendry, 2008). Besides, many US hard red spring wheat cultivars also have FHB resistance, such as Bacup developed in Minnesota, and Alsen, Steele ND2710 and Glenn developed by North Dakota State University (Mergoum et al., 2007). Among them, Alsen was derived from a three way cross from "ND674/ND2710/ND688", where ND2710 was from a cross involving Sumai 3 (Mergoum et al., 2007).

Transgressive segregation has been successfully used in creating resistant cultivars. Examples of this are some wheat cultivars from Southern Chinese: Sumai 3, Zhen 7495, Xiangmai 2, Jingzhou 1 and Jingzhou 47 (Bechtel et al., 1985; Bai et al., 2000). Thus, selecting elite resistant lines from transgressive segregation of resistance may be able to improve the level of FHB resistance. Besides, many other breeding strategies have been applied in wheat FHB resistance (Bai and Shanner, 2004; Lu et al., 2001), such as introduction of alien resistance genes or chromosomes to develop new synthetic hexaploid wheat cultivars (Gilchrist et al., 1997, Rudd

et al., 2001). For example, wheat addition lines with chromosomes from *Roegneria ciliaris*, *R. kamoji*, or *Elymus giganteus* showed FHB resistance as Sumai 3 in China (Chen et al., 1993).

Type of	Chromosome	Population name	Population	References
FHB			type	
resistance				
Type II	2AL, 3BS	Sumai3 (R)/Stoa (MS)	RIL	Waldron et al.,
resistance				1999
Type II	7B	Ning7840(R)/Clark (S)	RIL	Bai et al., 1999
resistance				
Type II	3AL,6AS,	ND2603(R)/Butte86(MS)	RIL	Anderson et al.,
resistance	3BS			2001
Type II	2AL, 3BS,	Sumai3(R)/Stoa(MS)	RIL	Anderson et al.,
resistance	4BS, 6BS			2001
Type II	2AS, 2BL and	Ning7840(R)/Clark(S)	RIL	Zhou et al., 2002b
resistance	3BS			
Type II	5A, 1B and	CM-82036(R)/Remus(S)	DH	Buerstmayr et al.,
resistance	3BS			2002
Type II	3BS	Ning7840(R)/Wheaton(S)	F <sub>2:3</sub>	Zhou et al., 2003
resistance				
Type II	3BS	Ning7840(R)/IL89-7978(S)	F <sub>3:4</sub>	Zhou et al., 2003
resistance				
Type II	3BS	CM-82036(R)/Remus(S)	DH	Buerstmayr et al.,
resistance				2003
Type I	5A	CM-82036(R)/Remus(S)	DH	Buestmayr et al.,
resistance				2003
Type II	3BS, 6B and	Ning894037(R)/Alondra(M	RIL	Shen et al., 2003
resistance	2D	S)		
Type II	3A, 3BS, 3BL	Huapei57-2(R)/Patterson	RIL	Bourdoncle and
resistance	and 5B	(MS)		Ohm, 2003
Type III	5AS, 3BS and	Wuhan-1(R)/Maringa (MS)	DH	Somers et al., 2003
resistance	2DS			

Table 1.1 Review of FHB resistance QTL

Type II	3BS and 4B	Wuhan-1(R)/Maringa(MS)	DH	Somers et al., 2003
resistance				
Type II	1B and 3BS	Wangshuibai(R)/Alondra(S)	RIL	Zhang et al., 2004
resistance				
Type II	7AL, 3BS,	Wangshuibai(R)/Wheaton(S	RIL	Zhou et al., 2004
resistance	1BL and	)		
	3BSc			
Туре І	3A and 5A	Frontana(MR) and	DH	Steiner et al., 2004
resistance		Remus(S)		
Туре І	3AS, 5AS,	DH181(R)/AC Foremost(S)	DH	Yang et al., 2005b
resistance	3BS, 3BSc,			
	6BS, 2DS and			
	4DL			
Type II	3BS, 6BS,	DH181(R)/AC Foremost(S)	DH	Yang et al., 2005b
resistance	2DS and 7BL			
Type II	3BS, 4BL and	Chokwang(R)/Clark(S)	RIL	Yang et al., 2005a
resistance	5DL			
Type II	6AL, 1B, 2BL	Dream(R)/Lynx(S)	RIL	Schmolke et al.,
resistance	and 7BS			2005
Type II	3BS, 4BL and	Chokwang(R)/Clark(S)	RIL	Yang et al., 2005a
resistance	5DL			
Type II	7A, 3B, 5B	Wangshuibai(R)/Alondra(S)	DH	Jia et al., 2005b
resistance	and 2D			
Type III	3BS	CM-82036(R)/and Remus	DH	Lemmens et al.,
resistance				2005
Type II and	5AS and 3BS	W14(R)/Poin2684(S)	DH	Chen et al., 2006
Type III				
resistance				
Type II	6A, 3B, 2D	Chinese spring sumai3	RIL	Ma et al., 2006a
resistance	and 4D	disomic substitution line		

		(R)/Annong 8455(S)		
Type II	3BS	Sumai3*5(R)/Thatcher(S)	RIL	Cuthbert et al.,
resistance		and HC374(R)/3*98B69-		2006
		L47(S)		
Type II	3AL, 7AS and	Frontana (MR)/Seri82(S)	F <sub>3:5</sub>	Mardi et al., 2006
resistance	1BL			
Type I	5A, 4B and	Wangshuibai	RIL	Lin et al., 2006
resistance	5B	(R)/Nanda2419		
Type II	1AS, 3BS,	CJ9306(R)/Veery(S)	RIL	Jiang et al.,
resistance	7BS, 2DL			2007ab
Type III	1AS, 5AS,	CJ9306(R)/Veery(S)	RIL	Jiang et al., 2007a
resistance	3BS and 2DL,			and 2007b
Type II	6B	BW278(R)/AC Foremost(S)	RIL	Cuthbert et al.,
resistance				2007
Type II	1AL, 7AL	Arina (MR)/NK93604(MR)	DH	Semagn et al.,
resistance	1BL and 6BS			2007
Type III	1AL and 2AS	Arina (MR)/ NK93604(MR)	DH	Semagn et al.,
resistance				2007
Type II	5A, 2B, 3B,	Ernie(MR)/MO 94-317(S)	RIL	Liu et al., 2007
resistance	and 4BL			
Type II	3AS, 5AS,	Wangshuibai(R)/Wheaton(S	RIL	Yu et al., 2008c
resistance	3BS, 4B, and	)		
	5DL			
Type II	1A, 5AS, 7AL	Wangshuibai(R)/Wheaton(S	RIL	Yu et al., 2008c
resistance	3BS, 3DL and	)		
	5DL			
Type III	1A, 5AS,	Wangshuibai(R)/Wheaton(S	RIL	Yu et al., 2008c
resistance	7AL, 1BL,	)		
	3BS and 5DL			
Type II	1A and 2BL	G16-92(R)/Hussar(S)	RIL	Schmolke et al.,

resistance				2008
Type II	2DS	Sumai3(R)/Gamenya(S)	DH	Handa et al., 2008
resistance,				
plant height				
Type II	4DS	Spark(R)/Rialto(S)	DH	Srinivasachary et
resistance				al., 2008
Type II	2B, 3B, 4B	IL94-1653/Patton	RIL	Carolyn et al.,
resistance	and 6B			2009
Type II	5BL, 6BS and	Pelikan(S)/G93010(R)	F <sub>6:8</sub> RIL	Haberle et al.,
resistance	7BS			2009
Type II	7A, 1B, 3B,	Wangshuibai(R)/Sy95-7(S)	F <sub>2:3</sub>	Zhang et al., 2010
resistance	6B and 2D			
Type II	2A, 5A, 2B,	T. macha(R)/Furore(S)	RIL	Buerstmayr et al.,
resistance	5B			2011
Type II and	7AC and 3BS	CS-Sumai 3-7ADSL	CRIL	Jayatilake et al.,
type III				2011
resistance				
Type II	1AS, 5AS,	Haiyanzhong (R)/Wheaton	RIL	Li et al., 2011
resistance	6BS(2) and			
	7DL			
Type II	1AS, 5AS,	Huangfangzhu(R)/Wheaton	RIL	Li et al., 2012
resistance	7AL, 1B and			
	3BS			
Type II	3AS, 4AL and	Heyne(R)/ Trego	RIL	Zhang et al., 2012
resistance	4DL			

# Chapter 2 - Mapping QTL for *Fusarium* head blight resistance in Chinese wheat landrace Huangcandou (HCD)

#### Introduction

FHB resistance inherits as a quantitative trait, which is usually controlled by a few major genes and several other minor genes (Bai and Shaner, 1994; Buerstmayr et al. 1997, 1999). Mapping of quantitative trait loci (QTL) has been widely used to determine the effect of QTL underlining quantitative traits. To date, FHB associated QTL have been reported from about 50 wheat cultivars covering all 21 chromosomes (Liu et al. 2009). Among them QTL on 3BS, formally designated as *Fhb1*, shows the largest effect on type II and type III resistance. Sumai 3 and its derivatives such as 'Ning7840' carry Fhb1 and are the most used source of FHB resistance in breeding programs worldwide (Bai and Shaner; 1996, Bai et al.1999; Somers et al., 2003; Cuthbert et al., 2006; Buerstmayr et al. 2009). The QTL on chromosome 5AS, 6BS, 3A, 4B, 2D, 1B, 7A, 5B also have been mapped in more than two populations in previous studies and considered as stable QTL (Liu et al. 2009). Four of these resistance QTL were also formally named as *Fhb2* on chromosome 6B (Anderson et al. 2001; Cuthbert et al., 2007), *Fhb3* on Chromosome 7AS from Wheat-Leymus introgression lines (Qi et al. 2008), Fhb4 on Chromosome 4B (Lin et al., 2006; Xue et al. 2010) and Fhb5 on Chromosome 5A (Xue et al., 2011). To date, only Sumai3-derived resistance QTL on 3BS (Fhb1) has been extensively used in breeding programs due to its stable major effect on type II and type III resistance across different genetic backgrounds (Bai et al. 1999; Anderson et al. 2001). However, single resistance QTL may not provide sufficient protection from severe epidemics, thus, exploring new source of resistance to facilitate pyramiding of the QTL is urgently needed to enhance the level of resistance and diversity of resistance sources.

Huangcandou (HCD) is a Chinese landrace and showed a high level of type II resistance to FHB (Yu et al. 2008a). But QTL underlining the resistance in HCD has not yet been characterized. In this study, a population of  $F_5$ -derived recombinant inbred line (RIL) was developed from the cross HCD ×Jagger and used to characterize QTL associated with FHB type II resistance and to identify markers that tightly linked to the QTL for marker-assisted selection (MAS).

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Plant materials and FHB evaluation

A population of 190 recombinant inbred lines (RILs) was derived from the cross HCD and Jagger by single-seed descent. HCD is a resistant wheat landrace from China, and Jagger is a FHB susceptible US hard red winter wheat (HRWW) cultivar from Kansas.  $F_{5:6}$  and  $F_{5:7}$  RILs were evaluated for FHB resistance at Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS. The experiments were conducted in the greenhouses of spring and fall 2010, and spring 2011 with two replications in each experiment. Two parents were used as checks in each experiment. Seeds of RILs and parents were planted in Plug Flat Trays filled with Metro-mix 360® soil mix (Hummer International, Earth City, MO). After vernalization at 5°C in a cold chamber for 6 weeks, 5 seedlings per line were transplanted into each 13-cm squared Dura pot containing Metro-mix 360® (Hummer International, Earth City, MO). The pots were arranged on greenhouse benches in a randomized complete block design (RCBD). The greenhouse was maintained at 15-20 °C with 12 hours supplemental daylight. Miracle-Gro® (Hummer International, Earth City, MO) was applied four times at one week interval after transplanting.

*F. graminearum* (KS strain GZ3639) was used as the source of inoculums and conidia were prepared following Bai et al. (1999). The concentration of conidia was calculated using a hemocytometer under a light microscope. The final concentration of inoculums was adjusted to 100,000 conidia per mL. At early anthesis,  $10\mu$ l conidial suspension (~1000 conidia/spike) was injected into a central spikelet of a spike using a syringe (Hamilton, Reno, Nevada). Five spikes per pot were inoculated and enclosed in a moist chamber at 100% relative humidity and 20-25°C to initiate fungal initial infection. After 48 hours of incubation, the plants were move to greenhouse benches at 20-25°C with 12h supplemental daylight. Type II resistance (symptoms spread within a spike) was evaluated by counting infected spikelets and total spikelets in a spike on the 18<sup>th</sup> day after inoculation. Percentage of symptomatic spikelets (PSS) of an inoculated spike was calculated by counting the number of infected spikelets and total number of spikelets. Mean PSS of RILs for each experiment and across all three experiments were calculated for QTL analysis.

#### DNA extraction and genotyping

Leaf tissues were collected from F<sub>5:6</sub> RILs at 3-leaf stage in 96-deepwell plates. Harvested tissues were dried in a freeze dryer (Thermo Savant, Holbrook, NY) for 48 h and ground in a Mixer Mill (MM 400, Retsch, Germany). Genomic DNA was isolated using a modified cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide (CTAB) protocol (Saghai-Maroof et al. 1984). A core set of 384 pairs of SSR primers including BARC, WMC, GWM, STS, CFA and CFD (http://wheat.pw.usda.gov) were used to screen the parents. This primer set were originally selected from 2000 primer pairs according to previous studies conducted at USDA Central Small Grain Genotyping Lab, Manhattan, KS. These primers are evenly distributed on all 21 chromosomes (Sommer et al. 2004). Primer pairs that detected polymorphism between parents were used to genotype a randomly selected subset of 96 RILs. Coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>) was calculated for each of the markers to determine significant markers associated with FHB type II resistance. To increase the marker density in QTL regions, another 70 markers linked to known QTL that have been reported in previous studies were screened for polymorphism (Liu et al. 2009; Buerstmayr et al. 2009; <u>http://wheat.pw.usda.gov</u>) and polymorphic markers were added to the linkage map for further QTL analysis.

Polymorphic SSR markers between parents were used to screen RILs. PCR amplification was done in a DNA engine Tetrad Peltier thermal cycler (MJ Research, Waltham, MA). A 10 µl PCR master mix contained 1X ASB buffer, 2.5 mM of MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 200 µM of dNTP, 100 nM each of a fluorescent-dye-labeled M13 primer (5'- ACGACGTTGTAAAACGAC) and a forward primer with M13-tail added to 5'-end, and 200 nM of a reverse primer, 0.6 U of Tag polymerase, and 40 ng template genomic DNA. PCR amplification was done using a touchdown program. Initially, PCR reaction mixture was incubated at 95°C for 5 min, followed by five cycles of 96°C for 1 min, annealing at 68°C for 3 min, with a decrease of 2°C in each subsequent cycle, and extension at 72°C for 1 min; For another five cycles, annealing temperature started from 58°C for 2 min with a decrease of 2°C in each subsequent cycles; then PCR went through an additional 25 cycles of 96°C for 1 min, 50°C for 1 min and 72°C for 1 min ended with a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. Amplified PCR products from four PCR labeled with different florescent dyes (FAM, VIC, NED and PET) were pooled and analyzed in ABI PRISM 3730 DNA Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Data scoring were done using GeneMarker v1.75 (SoftGenetics LLC. State College, PA, USA)

#### Data analysis

Heritability ( $h^2$ ) of PSS was calculated using  $h^2 = \sigma_g^2 / (\sigma_e^2 / re + \sigma_{ge}^2 / e + \sigma_g^2)$ , where  $\sigma_g^2$  is an estimate of genetic variance,  $\sigma_{ge}^2$  is an estimate of G by E variance, and  $\sigma_e^2$  is an estimate of environmental variance. The variances  $\sigma_g^2$ ,  $\sigma_{ge}^2$ , and  $\sigma_e^2$  were estimated by analysis of variance (ANOVA) using PROC GLM function in SAS v 9.1.2 (SAS Institute Inc. Cary. NC).

Linkage maps were constructed by IciMapping v3.1 (Wang et al. 2011) using Kosambi mapping function (Kosambi 1944) and a logarithm of odds (LOD) threshold of 3.0. QTL for PSS were analyzed using composite interval mapping (CIM) module in WINQTL Cartographer Ver. 2.5 (Wang et al. 2006). Five SSR markers were used as controls with a window size of 10 cM and 2 cM walking speed. Permutation test was performed 1000 times to determine the LOD threshold for claiming the significance of QTL at P < 0.05 (Doerge et al. 1996). Coefficients of determination (R<sup>2</sup>) for each QTL were calculated through multiple linear regressions in QTL IciMapping v3.1 (Wang et al., 2011). The joint QTL effects for each individual experiment were calculated using stepwise regression in both additive and epistasis mapping (Wang et al., 2011).

To compare the effect of different QTL combinations on FHB Type II resistance, all RILs were separated into 2<sup>n</sup> genotypic groups based on allele constitution of all QTL (n) identified in the population. Alleles for each QTL were represented by the alleles of the closest marker to the QTL. Multiple comparisons among the groups were conducted by Tukey-Kramer method (Miller, 1981).

#### Results

#### FHB in HCD × Jagger population

The resistant parent HCD showed moderate resistance with a mean PSS of 16.7%, ranging from 9.63% to 27.19% across the three experiments, while the susceptible parent (Jagger) had a mean PSS of 84.4%, ranging from 69.9% to 98.3% (Figure 2.1). The mean PSS of each of the three experiments ranged from 4.7% to 100% for RILs. Different patterns of PSS frequency distributions were observed among the three experiments. In general it showed a continuous variation with two peaks, but with a major peak skewed toward HCD in 2010 spring and fall experiments and toward Jagger in 2011 spring experiment (Figure 2.1). Mean PSS over all RILs was 44.8%, ranged from 29.8% (2010 fall) to 54.99% (2011 spring). Thus disease pressure was the highest in 2011 spring and the lowest in 2010 fall. Significant transgressive segregation was observed in all the three experiments, suggested that the susceptible parent might contribute resistance QTL in the population. The positive correlations of PSS were highly significant among the three greenhouse experiments ranging from 0.48 to 0.69 (P <0.001). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) indicated significant variations for genotypes, environments and genotype by environment interactions (Table 2.1). Heritability for PSS across three greenhouse experiments was high (0.80).

#### Linkage maps and QTL for FHB resistance

After screening 454 selected SSR primers between parents, 261 primers were found to be polymorphic, indicating a high level of polymorphism (57.5%) for the set of primers. All polymorphic primers were used to screen a subset of 96 RILs. Among them, 242 markers were mapped to 43 linkage groups that covered 953.7 cM in genetic distance. Composite interval mapping (CIM) using the resulting map identified five chromosomes regions in 3A, 3B, 4B, 5A and 2D that were significantly associated with PSS. All polymorphic markers from the five chromosomes were used to screen the rest of 94 RILs in HCD/Jagger population. The final linkage map was constructed using 190 RILs and used for final QTL detection. However, QTL on 4B and 5A was not significant in the final map, thus not analyzed further.

Three significant QTL were detected in HCD/Jagger mapping population. One was mapped in the distal end of the short arm of chromosome 3B (3BS), one on the short arm of chromosome 3A (3AS) and the other on chromosome 2DS. The one on 3BS showed a significant

major effect on Type II resistance in all the three experiments (Figure 2.2), and coincided with previously reported *Fhb1* according to the haplotype of tightly linked markers *Xumn10* and *Xbarc133*. This QTL explained 10.8 to 36.9% of phenotypic variations across the three experiments (Table 2.2). The QTL on 3AS was flanked by *Xcfa2134* and *Xgwm2*, and was significant in two 2010 experiments and mean PSS over the three experiments. This QTL explained 7.3% to 14.5% of phenotypic variation (Table 2.2). The third QTL on 2D was tightly linked to the marker *Xgwm261* and significant only in spring 2011 experiment. This QTL explained 6.5% of phenotypic variations (Table 2.2). The QTL on 3BS (*Fhb1*) and 3AS were from HCD and QTL on 2D was from Jagger. The total effects of the QTL in the population were 26.5% in 2010 Spring, 25.1% in 2010 Fall, 38.3% in 2011 Spring and 37.3 in combined average.

#### Effects of QTL on FHB resistance

To demonstrate the effect of each QTL, RILs that carry different allele combinations at the three QTL were grouped and compared for their allele substitution effects. Three QTL contain eight genotype groups: group1 (AABBCC) carries resistance alleles in all the three QTL (3BS, 3AS and 2D), group2 (AABBcc) carries resistance alleles in 3BS and 3AS, group3 (AAbbCC) carries resistance alleles on 3BS and 2D; and group4 (AAbbcc) carries resistance allele only in *Fhb1*, group5 (aaBBCC) carries resistance alleles in 3AS and 2D, group6 (aaBBcc) carries resistance alleles on 3AS only, group7 (aabbCC) carries resistance allele on 2D only; group8 (aabbcc) does not carry any of these resistant alleles. Markers tightly linked to each QTL (Xumn10 on 3BS, Xgwm2 on 3AS and Xgwm261 on 2D) were selected to represent these QTL. Two contrasting alleles at each of the three SSR loci exhibited a 1:1 segregation ratio. For 190 RILs, mean PSS for each groups of RILs ranged from 22.4% to 69.3%. The mean PSS for RILs carrying a marker allele linked to only one of the three resistant QTL were 44.3% for Xumn10 (3BSd), 53.8% Xgwm2 (3A) and 58.4% for Xgwm261 (2D). In contrast, the averaged PSS of RILs carrying all three susceptible alleles was 69.3% (Null). The mean PSS with Fhb1 or 3A allele alone was significantly lower than that of 'null' group. Meanwhile, the mean PSS of RILs with resistant alleles at Fhb1 plus an additional QTL (3AS or 2D QTL) were consistently lower than those with two or three susceptible alleles. Thus the QTL Fhb1 showed the largest effect on FHB resistance and substitution of a resistant allele at *Fhb1* by a susceptible allele increased PSS significantly. Also RILs carrying a resistance allele on 3A with or without additional QTL had
significantly lower PSS than that of the RILs without any resistance allele at all three QTL, suggested that substitution of resistance alleles on 3A QTL by susceptible allele can significantly increase FHB severity.

## Discussion

Although many Chinese wheat cultivars or landraces have been reported to show a high level of FHB resistance (Yu et al. 2008a, Li et al. 2011, Li et al. 2012, Yang et al. 2005ab), only a few of them, mainly Sumai3 and its derivative Ning7840, have been well characterized to carry QTL for type II resistance (Bai and Shaner, 2004; Rudd et al. 2001; Yu et al. 2008b, Zhang et al. 2004, Somer et al. 2003). QTL in many other Chinese sources, especially landraces, have not been well characterized. Characterization and utilization of QTL in different sources of resistance will enhance genetic diversity of FHB resistance QTL. HCD is one of the resistant Chinese landraces. The frequency distributions of mean PSS from the three experiments showed two peaks of unequal sizes (Figure 2.1), suggesting at least two QTL segregating for FHB resistance in the population. Transgressive segregation observed in all the three experiments suggested that Jagger might also contribute a QTL for resistance. QTL mapping using HCD/Jagger RILs indicated that FHB resistance in HCD is mainly conditioned by a combination of two QTL for FHB resistance on 3BS and 3AS and Jagger also contributes a minor QTL for resistance. This result supports the prediction based on the PSS frequency distributions of the mapping population.

FHB resistance is a quantitative trait that is controlled by several genes/QTL, and its resistance expression is also severely influenced by environments where plants are evaluated (Jia et al. 2005a; Bai et al. 2000; Parry et al. 1995). Difference in FHB inoculation techniques and environmental conditions may contribute significantly to the differences in QTL detection. Thus, it is essential to evaluate FHB resistance repeatedly in different seasons and environments to improve the repeatability of QTL detection (Kolb et al. 2001). In this study, the RIL population was evaluated repeatedly in three-greenhouse experiments. Although variation in the patterns of frequency distributions was observed for different experiments (Figure 2.1), the correlation coefficients of PSS for RILs were high among experiments (r= 0.48 - 0.69, P < 0.001). A high heritability (0.80) was also observed. These results suggested that the phenotypic variation was mainly due to genotypic variation and the data were reliable for QTL analysis in this study (Bai

et al. 1999). The current study was conducted in greenhouses under controlled temperature and moisture environments and the population is relatively large with 190 RILs in comparison with some studies that used smaller size of populations (Lemmens et al., 2005; Ma et al., 2006b), thus detected QTL should be reliable.

The QTL on 3BS explained 10.8% to 36.9% of total phenotypic variation in the HCD/ Jagger population. This QTL was flanked by *Xgwm493* and *Xgwm533* with the peak at marker *Xumn10*, thus it coincides with the location of a previously mapped QTL *Fhb1* from Sumai3 (Cuthbert et al. 2006; Waldron et al. 1999). This QTL has been reported in more than 30 studies in which Sumai3 and its relatives were the major sources of the resistant parents. This QTL showed a stable major effect on FHB type II resistance across different genetic backgrounds (Buestmayr et al., 2009; Bai et al., 1999; Zhou et al., 2002b; Buerstmayr et al., 2003; Shen et al., 2003; Bourdoncle and Ohm, 2003; Yang et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2006; Jiang et al., 2007ab). It was also reported in cultivars that are not related to Sumai3 such as Wangshuibai (Lin et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2004) and Nyu Bai (Somers et al., 2003; Cuthbert et al., 2006) etc. Thus, the QTL on 3BS of HCD is *Fhb1*.

Effect of *Fhb1* on type II resistance varied among studies, ranging from 6% in DH181 (Yang et al. 2005a) to 60% in Ning7840 (Bai et al. 1999). A wide range of  $R^2$ -values has even been reported for the same source of resistance used in different studies (Waldron et al. 1999, Anderson et al., 2001, Zhou et al., 2002a, Buerstmayr et al., 2002, 2003, Shen et al., 2003, Bourdoncle and Ohm 2003, Somers et al., 2003, Chen et al., 2006a, Jiang et al., 2007ab, Lin et al., 2004, Zhang et al., 2004, Ma et al., 2006a, Yu et al., 2008b, Yang et al., 2005b). In the current study, effect of *Fhb1* on type II resistance in HCD was highly significant in all the threegreenhouse experiments with a  $R^2$ -value up to 0.283 for mean PSS across the three experiments. However, when individual experiments were examined, the phenotypic variation explained by Fhb1 varied from 10.8% to 36.9%, indicating that QTL effect may vary significantly with environments even the same population is used. This may be due to difference in times of a year for inoculation in different experiments. Inoculation during winter season is usually under lower temperature conditions than that is done in early summer, which may significantly affect disease levels of inoculated plants, especially resistant and moderately resistant plants may have a lower level of disease. In field conditions, the situation even worse than in a greenhouse because inoculum amount available, flowering times, temperature and moisture conditions during

31

infection period can differ dramatically among locations and years, which will lead to significant variations in effect of QTL from different studies. Thus the discrepancy in effect of *Fhb1* reported from different studies could be due to difference in FHB evaluation environments, genetic backgrounds of different populations, population sizes and inoculation methods. It may also be possible that different sources of resistance may harbor different alleles of *Fhb1*.

The second QTL located on 3AS was significant in two greenhouse experiments. This QTL, closest to Xgwm2 was flanked by Xcfa2134 and Xgwm5, and explained 10.0% the phenotypic variation for the mean PSS over the three experiments. A QTL in similar location was firstly reported on 'Huapei 57-2' centered at Xgwm5, which explained 8.1% of variation for type II resistance (Bourdoncle and Ohm 2003). In F201R, this QTL was flanked by Xbarc76 and Xgwm674, and explained 13.4% FHB spread variation (Shen et al., 2003). Meanwhile a QTL from Triticum dicoccoides was mapped close to Xgwm2, and explained 37% of phenotypic variation (Chen et al. 2007). Because Xgwm2 and Xgwm5 were 2.8cM apart (Somers et al. 2004), the QTL mapped in this study is most likely at the same position as these 3A QTL reported previously from different studies. In this study, the QTL on 3AS was not as stable as *Fhb1*, and significant in only two (2010 Spring and Fall) of the three experiments and explained a much smaller proportion of phenotypic variance than Fhb1. However, this QTL contributes a moderate effect on type II resistance relative to other QTL with a minor effect. In this study, this QTL alone was able to significantly reduce FHB PSS from 69.3% (Null) to 53.8% (Figure 2.3). Thus, this QTL can be a good candidate for pyramiding of different QTL with major stable effects to improve FHB type II resistance.

The third QTL was identified on 2DS of Jagger. This QTL region was in the same position as the QTL previously reported to be responsible for FHB resistance and low DON accumulation in a Japanese cultivar (Handa et al., 2008). Comparative analysis with rice genome identified a candidate gene, multidrug resistance-associated protein (MPR), for FHB resistance located in rice chromosome 4 that is corresponding to the wheat genomic region on 2D (Handa et al., 2008). In current study, this QTL was close to *Xgwm261* in chromosome 2D, and flanked by *Xbarc95* and *Xgwm261*. it was especially significant in spring 2011 experiment, and explained 6.5% of phenotypic variation. Previous studies revealed that the SSR marker *Xgwm261* was linked to a reduced height locus *Rht8* (Korzum et al., 1998). Whether the resistance effect is due to plant height variation caused by *Rht8* is still unknown. The QTL was also reported in a double

32

haploid population from the cross Sumai3  $\times$  Gamenya and the 'susceptible parent' Gamenya contributed the resistance allele (Xu et al. 2001). The closest marker was *Xgwm261* and explained 14% to 25% phenotypic variations. Other studies also detected the QTL on 2DS of a moderate susceptible parent Alondra's that explained 12.1% phenotypic variation (Shen et al., 2003). Similar to previous report, the current study also identified the resistance locus on the same location of chromosome 2D from the susceptible parent, Jagger. This QTL in Jagger showed a minor effect on type II resistance but it is more likely a real QTL since it is consistent in the same location of different genetic backgrounds. This QTL often identified in susceptible parents suggested that some susceptible cultivars still carry resistance QTL. When transferring a major QTL to US wheat, use of these adapted susceptible parents with minor resistance alleles can improve the level of resistance of selected new cultivars. These cultivars without any minor resistance allele should be avoided as parents for breeding crosses. In addition, this QTL was also found in several other studies where resistant parents contributed the resistance allele (Yang et al. 2005).

Figure 2.1 Frequency distribution of mean percentage of symptomatic spikelets (PSS) in a spike for RIL population derived from cross HCD × Jagger in three greenhouse experiments



Figure 2.2 Composite interval maps of quantitative trait loci (QTL) for FHB type II resistance constructed from a recombinant inbred line (RIL) population derived from the cross HCD × Jagger based on three greenhouse experiments (2010 Spring, 2010 Fall, 2011 Spring) using percentage of symptomatic spikelets (PSS%) on (a) chromosome 3BS, (b) chromosome 3A and (c) chromosome 2D

a) 3BS



b) 3AS



# c) Chromosome 2D



Figure 2.3 Effects of different combinations of QTL on percentage of symptomatic spikelets (PSS) of RIL derived from HCD × Jagger based on FHB resistance data collected from three greenhouse experiments. Group 1 resistance alleles from QTL on 3BS, 3AS and 2D; group 2 resistance alleles from QTL on 3BS and 3AS; group 3 resistance alleles from QTL on 3BS, and 2D; group 4 resistance allele from QTL on 3BS only; group 5 resistance alleles from QTL on 3AS+2D; group 6 resistance alleles from QTL on 3A only; group7 resistance alleles from QTL on 2D only; group 8 susceptible alleles from all three QTL. The hollow circles on the vertical lines are the mean PSS of each group, and lengths of the lines are 95% confidence intervals. If the confidence intervals have no overlap to each other, then the two groups are significantly different at LSD <sub>0.05</sub>.



Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean	F value	Pr>F
			Square		
Experiment	2	127782.50	63891.25	218.94	<.0001
<b>Replication (experiment)</b>	3	1198.96	399.65	1.37	0.2512
Genotype	189	587702.09	3109.53	10.66	<.0001
Experiment*Genotype	376	230449.33	612.89	2.10	<.0001
Error	548	159920.26	291.82		
Corrected total	1118	1119363.67			

Table 2.1 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) of percentage of symptomatic spikelets (PSS)data for the RIL based on three greenhouse experiments

Table 2.2 Flanking markers, logarithm of the odds (LOD), coefficients of determination (R<sup>2</sup>) of the significant QTL regions detected by composite interval mapping based on spring 2010, fall 2010 and spring 2011 greenhouse FHB data.

Locus	Flanking markers	2010 Spring		2010 Fall		2011 Spring		Combined	
								mean	
		LOD	$R^2$	LOD	$\mathbb{R}^2$	LOD	$\mathbb{R}^2$	LOD	$R^2$
Fhb1	Xgwm493~Xgwm533	9.75	20.4%	4.96	10.2%	14.73	32.4%	14.90	28.3%
3AS	Xcfa2134~Xgwm2	3.66	7.6%	6.71	13.5%	-	-	5.28	9.7%
2D	Xbarc95~Xwmc261	-	-	-	-	2.64	6.5%	-	-
Total		-	26.5%	-	25.1%	-	38.3%	-	37.3%

# Chapter 3 - Meta-analysis of FHB resistance QTL in Chinese wheat landraces

### Introduction

In 1980s, 23434 Chinese landraces and breeding lines have been screened for FHB resistances, 1796 of them were reported to have high or at least moderately resistant to FHB, including Wangshuibai, Ning 7840, Huangfangzhu, Huangcandou and Baishanyuehuang (Huang et al., 1999; Yu et al., 2008b). However, only a few of them such as Sumai 3 are well characterized for FHB resistance QTL in multiple studies. QTL in many other Chinese landraces are poorly characterized and some were reported in only one population. Meta-analysis, a statistic method to combine results across independent studies into one single result, has been widely applied in medical, social, and behavioral sciences (Veyrieras et al., 2007). Britten et al., (1996) successfully adapted the method in a genetics study on salmonid fishes. Meta-analysis has not been used extensively in FHB QTL mapping. To date, only two review articles reported such studies. Liu et al., (2009) conducted the meta-analysis study to cluster 249 FHB resistance QTL from 46 lines and confirmed 19 QTL on 8 chromosomes. Loffler et al. (2009) combined QTL from 30 mapping populations to conduct meta-QTL analysis, 9 meta-QTL were found on 12 chromosomes. Another review paper focused on updated knowledge on QTL mapping studies. Buerstmayr et al. (2009) reviewed 52 QTL mapping studies and concluded that FHB resistance QTL were found on all wheat chromosomes except 7D (Buerstmayr et al., 2009). In that review, some QTL detected in multiple studies were confirmed as stable QTL and proposed for use in breeding. However, all of the three review articles used the published partial maps from different studies without addition of new markers in the QTL regions, thus with no or poor marker coverage. Adding additional markers in the poor marker coverage regions with QTL in other populations can further validate whether the missing QTL is due to missing markers or QTL.

In this study, a set of five populations developed from different Chinese landraces was used for meta-analysis (Table 3.1) (Li et al., 2012, HYZ, Li et al., 2011, WSB, Yu et al., 2008c, BSYH, Zhang et al., 2012, and Chapter 2).We applied meta-analysis to estimate 95% CIs of FHB Type II resistance QTL according to the QTL locations and QTL effects from each study. This study focuses on five Chinese landraces as FHB resistance source to compare the QTL

41

across these Chinese landraces. Most QTL from previous studies were detected in only one or two of the five populations. These QTL were mainly located on chromosomes 3BS, 7D, 6BS, 5AS, 3A, 1AS and 7A in different populations (Yu et al., 2008c; Li et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012; Chapter 2). In each population, 3 to 7 QTL were detected from a resistant parent. The objectives of this study are to I) identify rare unique and common QTL in Chinese landraces; II) conduct meta-analysis to pinpoint and narrow down the confidence intervals (CIs) of QTL; III) identify flanking markers for these QTL to facilitate marker-assisted selection (MAS).

#### **Materials and Methods**

### Plant materials, FHB evaluation and marker analysis

Five mapping populations were developed by crossing five Chinese resistant landraces identified by Yu et al., (2008b) to two US susceptible cultivars Jagger and Wheaton (Table 3.1). These parents don't have any known pedigree relationship to Sumai 3, thus some may not carry the same FHB resistance QTL as these in Sumai 3. All the five populations are RILs (Table 3.2). FHB type II resistance (FHB spread) was evaluated in greenhouses at Kansas State University. Detailed methods for FHB (*F. graminarum*) inoculum preparation, single floret inoculation and FHB data collection were the same as used in Chapter 2.

Methods for DNA isolation and marker detection, and PCR conditions have been described in Chapter 2. To confirm that the absence of QTL in different populations are not due to poor marker coverage, markers from all the QTL regions in the chromosomes carrying QTL in at least one population were rescreened to construct a consensus map for further QTL analysis.

#### Map construction and meta-analysis of QTL from multiple populations

Newly generated marker data were merged with the original marker data file to construct linkage maps. Composite interval mapping (CIM) was performed using all the linkage maps developed from the five populations. Map construction and QTL analysis followed the same method described in Chapter 2.

To study the consistency of mapped QTL from different populations, five maps developed from the five populations were integrated into a consensus map for QTL analysis using Joinmap v 3.0 (Van Ooijen and voorrips 2001). The map calculations were based on mean recombination frequencies and combined LOD scores. Weighted least squares (WLS) were used to determine heterogeneity of recombination rates to optimize the consensus map results (Stam P. 1993). Consensus and linkage maps from individual studies with common markers were drawn using MapChart (Voorrips, 2002). The integrated maps with QTL were then projected onto the consensus map by referring the original QTL intervals and confidence intervals (CIs) on the consensus maps. A model choice criteria in the context of Gaussian mixture was selected to identify the most proper distribution of QTL location on consensus map (Veyrieras et al., 2007). Final consensus FHB-resistance QTL map with the 95% CIs was drawn using MQTLView command in MetaQTL (Veyrieras et al., 2005).

# **Results and Discussion**

# QTL for type II resistance and QTL Cluster

All SSR markers that were close to or at the previously reported QTL regions identified from different populations, but did not mapped previously, were rescreened between all parents for 5 populations. In the populations Wangshuibai (WSB)/Wheaton and Huangfangzhu (HFZ)/Wheaton, 21 additional SSR on 7D and 6B were screened between parents, respectively and 15 and 14 polymorphic primers were screened in two populations, respectively. In populations Baishanyuehuang (BSYH) and Huangcandou (HCD), 32 SSR markers from 7D, 6B, 1A and 7A were screened between parents, and 14 and 16 polymorphic primers were used to screen the populations, respectively. In Haiyanzhong (HYZ)/Wheaton population, 10 additional polymorphic markers on 3BS were analyzed. After screening those SSR markers on chromosomes 3BS, 7D, 6BS, 5AS, 3A, 1AS and 7A where QTL were detected in some studies in previous mapping studies, polymorphic markers were found in all these regions of 5 populations (Figure 3.1), suggesting that the new maps have reasonable marker coverage in all the QTL regions. However, additional QTL were not detected in any of these populations. The result indicates that absence of certain QTL in different populations was not due to missed markers in the regions, but to absence of the QTL in these regions.

Previous studies have mapped 24 QTL for FHB type II resistance on 11 chromosomes from the five Chinese landraces (Table 3.2). Among them, 20 QTL can be projected onto six consensus maps (1A, 3A, 5A, 7A, 3BS and 6B) using common markers and estimated metaanalysis QTL CIs (Figure 3.1). Based on the data from the five populations, chromosomes 1A, 3A, 5A, 7A, 1B, 2D, 3D, 5D and 7D have one QTL on each chromosome, while chromosomes 3BS and 6B have more than one QTL. The two QTL on 3BS were designated as separated QTL 3BSc and *Fhb1* because of the long genetic distance between them. The 19 QTL on 5 consensus linkage maps were classified into 10 clusters (Table 3.2; Figure 3.2). These clusters are more likely 'real' QTL that were detected in different mapping populations. QTL on each of the consensus linkage groups 1A, 3A, 3BS and 6B were classified into two clusters based on the Gaussian Mixture Model that gives how many QTL on the consensus maps can best define the QTL CIs detected from individual studies according to the sample sizes and R<sup>2</sup> of each QTL (Veyrieras et al., 2007). The QTL clusters were unevenly distributed among the three genomes, with 6 on A, 4 on B and none on D genome (Table 3.2). Most of the detected QTL were derived from Chinese landraces, only one QTL each was detected on 1AS of susceptible parent Wheaton in the HFZ/Wheaton population and on 2DS of susceptible parent Jagger in HCD/Jagger population.

#### QTL with a Major Effect on FHB Resistance

In this study, Five QTL were confirmed on two loci of 3BS, 1A, 5A and 7A, which is consistent with previous studies (Yu et al., 2008c; Li et al., 2011,2012; Zhang et al., 2012; Chapter II). All of them were significant in at least two populations (Table 3.2). However, in all five populations, at least 3 QTL were identified and with one QTL showing a major effect. The QTL Fhb1 on 3BS was identified in four of the five populations except in HYZ/Wheaton and located in the same cluster as the confirmed QTL in Sumai 3 (Liu et al., 2009). Through the current meta-analysis study, the CIs of *Fhb1* was narrowed down to 3.11cM, flanked by what markers *Xbarc147* and *Xbarc133*, centered by *Xumn10* (Table 3.3; Figure 3.2). These flanking markers should be useful markers for marker-assisted selection of *Fhb1*. *Fhb1* showed the largest effect on type II resistance in the four different populations. These Chinese landraces do not have known pedigree relationship with Sumai 3 (Yu et al., 2008b) or landrace Taiwan Wheat, the parent of Sumai 3. However, all of the Chinese landraces used in this study were collected from Jiangsu Province where Taiwan Wheat might originate from, thus they might be co-evolved in the same eco-environments. The *Fhb1* in different populations have huge difference in QTL effects as measured by  $R^2$ . The  $R^2$  varied from 17% (Zhang et al., 2012) to 35.6% (Li et al., 2012) in the four populations that carry the QTL. These five populations only have two susceptible parents: Jagger and Wheaton. Thus, the differences in QTL effects may not be due to different genetic backgrounds. However, FHB type II resistance for HFZ, HYZ and WSB population were detected in both greenhouse and field, while the experiments on HCD and BSYH were conducted in greenhouses only. There might be larger environmental effects on type II resistance in the field than in the greenhouse (Yu et al., 2008b). Besides, the various  $R^2$  may be due to genetic interactions between genes or QTL and the difference in alleles of the Fhb1 in different parents because the haplotype of *Fhb1*-linked markers among these landraces are different (Jayatilake et al., 2011).

45

The *Fhb1* was not significant in HYZ/Wheaton population even after more markers were added in the region. However, a QTL on 7D showed a major effect on type II resistance in HYZ/Wheaton population, explained 20.4-22.6% of the phenotypic variation, and was stable across three greenhouse and one field experiments (Li et al., 2011). Other QTL in the population showed much smaller effects than the 7D QTL. The 7D QTL was not significant in other four populations even all the markers in the 7D QTL regions were polymorphic (Figure 3.1). Only one previous study reported a minor QTL on the same location of 7D in Arina/Riband population (Draeger et al., 2007). Thus, it is a unique major QTL in HYZ for improvement of level of FHB resistance by stacking with *Fhb1*.

#### QTL with a Minor, but stable Effect on FHB Resistance

Besides a major QTL in each population, 2 to 6 minor QTL with various effects were detected in each population. In addition to Fhb1, another QTL cluster was identified near the centromere of 3BS in two populations, designated as 3BSc. This QTL cluster was centered at Xgwm566 and was flanked by Xgwm285 and Xwmc307 with a much smaller QTL CIs (3.47cM) than the original one (Table 3.3; Figure 3.2). This QTL showed much smaller effect than *Fhb1*, but it has been detected in several Chinese landraces or lines including 'Wuhan-1' (Somers et al., 2003) and U.S. winter wheat 'Ernie' (Liu et al., 2007). Chromosome 1A harbored two QTL clusters with one centered by Xwmc120 in HFZ/Wheaton and HYZ/Wheaton populations and another flanked by SSR markers *Xcfd59* and *Xgwm611* in WSB (Yu et al., 2008c; Table 3.3). Two QTL in two clusters of 3A were flanked by Xcfa2134 and Xgwm2 in HCD/Jagger and another flanked by Xgwm666 and Xbarc356 in BSYH/Jagger (Table 3.3; Fugure 3.2). However, these two clusters are all close to SSR markers Xgwm674 and Xgwm5, which was the same as previously reported in wheat 'Huapei 57-2', 'F201R' (Bourdoncle and Ohm, 2003; Shen et al., 2003) and durum wheat 'FA-15-3' (Chen et al., 2007). On 5A, a cluster of minor QTL was detected in four of the five populations. The cluster was flanked by Xwmc705 and Xgwm293, centered by *Xbarc1* (Table 3.3; Figure 3.2), which coincides with the QTL reported in 'F201R' (Shen et al., 2003) and 'Wangshuibai' with FHB type II resistance from another study (Lin et al., 2006). The QTL confidence intervals ranged from 5.02-18.4 cM in each individual mapping studies, however, meta-analysis of QTL narrowed down the CIs and pinpointed the QTL to a 1.38 CM interval (Table 3.3; Figure 3.2). The narrower QTL CIs enable us to find markers that

much closer to the resistant allele on 5A. The last QTL cluster on 7A was flanked by SSR markers *Xbarc165* and *Xwmc160*, centered by *Xbarc121* (Table 3.3). This QTL cluster location has been reported in different populations of Wangshuibai (Jia et al., 2005; Zhou et al., 2004), NK93604 (Semagn et al., 2007) and Ritmo (Klahr et al., 2007), as they shared the same markers *Xgwm276* and *Xbarc121*. These QTL clusters were detected in multiple populations, thus they are more likely stable QTL for type II resistance although they have minor effects. These QTL should also be important QTL to be used with major QTL in breeding programs for improvement of FHB resistance level of wheat cultivars.

### Conclusions

Meta-analyses were used to estimate 95% confidence intervals (CIs) of 24 mapped QTL in five populations derived from Chinese landraces. Nineteen QTL for FHB type II resistance were projected to 10 clusters. Five QTL (1A, 5A, 7A, 3BS (2)), especially, were identified as confirmed QTL to have stable and consistent effects on FHB resistance, should be good candidates for QTL pyramiding in breeding. The QTL on 7D is a unique QTL from HYZ, but it has a major effect on type II resistance, and should be used as another major source in breeding after further evaluation in different populations.

Figure 3.1 Overview of the wheat chromosomes for the five mapping experiments involved in the meta-analysis of FHB Type II resistance. The filled marker intervals indicate that the standardized residual between the interval distance estimates of QTL on original chromosomes. (a. chromosome 1A; b. chromosome 3A; c. chromosome 3BC; d. chromosome 3BSd; e. chromosome 5A; f. chromosome 6B; g. chromosome 7A; h. chromosome 7D)

- WSB HYZ Consensus\_1A HFZ Xwmc524 — - 0.0 0.0 Xwmc24 Xwmc120.2 8.3 Xwmc120.1 Xgwm595 11.5 -22.7 13.7 - Xcfd59.1 14.9 17.8 21.2 Xwms995 Xcfd59 30.4 31.2 Xgwm357 Xwmc705.1 Xgwm291 21.4 -22.6 -Xbarc83.2 Xwmc24 -- 0.0 Xwmc24 -- 0.0 30.2 Xgwm611 Xwmc120.2 6 1 Xwmc120.1 10.3 Xgwm357 51.1 10.9 38.9 Xbarc148 Xcfd59 13.5 Xcfd59.1 Xwmc120.2 Xwmc120.1 15.7 Xwmc120.1 Xcfd59.1 ~ 17.5 Xwmc705.1 17 9 Xawm357 59.8 Xbarc83.2 19.1 Xgwm291 49.6 Xgwm357 20.9 50.4 Xwms995 Xgwm611 65.9 58.1 - Xgwm595 Xbarc148 - 75.6 Xbarc148 -- 35.5 80.8 – Xwmc524 U
- a) Chromosome 1A

#### b) Chromosome 3A



## c) Chromosome 5A





# d) Chromosome 7A



#### e) Chromosome 3BS



=	Consensus_3BSd	WSB	HFZ	BSYH	HCD
---	----------------	-----	-----	------	-----



51

#### f) Chromosome 6B



# g) Chromosome 7D



HCD



Figure 3.2 Chromosome locations of the 95% confidence interval of QTL associated with FHB Type II resistance in five Chinese wheat landraces on a. chromosome 1A; b. chromosome 3A; c. chromosome 5A; d. chromosome 7A; e. chromosome 3BS; f. chromosome 6B. Name of the markers on the right, the genetic distance in cM are drawn on the left.

a)



b)



Cai\_hcd\_3A

UTLPART\_1

c)





d)

3BC Xwmc54 Vwmc78 Xbarc218 Xwmc505 Xwmc505 Xwmc612 Xwmc612 Xwmc307 Xgwm366 Xwmc307 Xgwm366 Xwmc307 Xgwm366 Xwmc307 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xwmc307 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xwmc307 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xbarc218 Xgwm285 Xbarc218 Xba



3BSd

Xbarc87-







e)





Parents	Chromosome locations	No. of	References
		RIL	
Wangshuibai /Wheaton	1AS, 5AS, 7AL, 3BS (2), 3DL,	124 F <sub>6</sub>	(Yu et al., 2008c)
	5DL		
Huangfangzhu /Wheaton	1AS, 5AS, 7AL, 1BS, 3BS	102 F <sub>8</sub>	(Li et al., 2011)
Haiyanzhong /Wheaton	1AS, 5AS, 6BS (2), 7DL	136 F <sub>8</sub>	(Li et al., 2012)
Baishanyuehuang/Jagger	3A, 5AS, 3BS (2)	188 F <sub>6</sub>	(Zhang et al.,
			2012)
Huangcandou /Jagger	3A, 3BS, 2D	190 F <sub>6</sub>	(Chapter 2)

**Table 3.1** Previously published chromosome locations of QTL for Fusarium head blight (FHB)type II resistance in five Chinese landraces

Table 3.2 Summary of Fusarium head blight (FHB) type II resistance Quantitative trai loci (QTL) in wheat and their chromosome location, number of QTL, and clusters identified in five Chinese wheat landraces

Chromosome	WSB/	HFZ/	HYZ/	BSYH/	HCD/	Total no.
locations	Wheaton	Wheaton	Wheaton	Jagger	Jagger	of clusters
1A	1	1	1	-	-	2
<b>3A</b>	-	-	-	1	1	2
5A	1	1	1	1	-	1
7A	1	1	-	-	-	1
1B	-	1	-	-	-	-
3B	2	1	-	2	1	2
6B	-	-	2	-	-	2
2D	-	-	-	-	1	-
3D	1	-	-	-	-	-
5D	1	-	-	-	-	-
7D	-	-	1	-	-	-
Total	7	5	5	4	3	10

Chromosome	Cluster No.	QTL locations	QTLCIs (95%)	Original QTL
locations				CIs
1A	C1	8.35	9.83	9.33-17.1
1A	C2	23.42	22.34	15.5
3A	C1	2.23	13.14	7.49
<b>3</b> A	C2	6.79	5.18	5.73
5A	C1	48.46	1.38	8.9-18.4
7A	C1	31.35	6.09	9.1-17.9
3BS	C1	15.13	3.11	9.7-14.03
3BS	C2	31.66	3.47	8.2-9.1
6B	C1	0.27	8.29	6.9
6B	C2	24.53	0.05	0.7

 Table 3.3 Summary of QTL locations and CIs from the ten QTL clusters

# References

- Akkaya M.S., Bhagwat A.A., Cregan P.B. (1992). Length polymorphisms of simple sequence repeat DNA in soybean. Genetics, 132: 1131-1139.
- Anderson J.A., Stack R.W., Liu S., Waldron B.L., Fjeld A.D. (2001). DNA markers for Fusarium head blight resistance QTL in two wheat populations. Theor. Appl. Genet, 102(8): 1164–1168.
- Argyris J., TeKrony D., Hershman D., VanSanford D., Hall M., Kennedy B., Rucker M., Edge C. (2005). Fusarium Head Blight Infection following Point Inoculation in the Greenhouse Compared with Movement of Fusarium graminearum in Seed and Floral Components. Crop Science, 45: 626-634.
- Arthur J.C. (1891). Wheat scab. Indiana Agric. Exp. Stn. Bull, 36: 129–38.
- Bai G.H., Zhou C.F., Qian C.M., Ge Y.F. (1990). Genetic analysis on resistance genes to scab spread in wheat cultivars. In L-H. Zhu (ed) Advances in Researches on Inheritance to Diseases in Major Crops: 171-177. Jiangsu Sci-Tech Publ House, Nanjing. China.
- Bai G.H., Shaner G. (1994). Scab of wheat: Prospects and Control. Plant Dis, 78: 760-766.
- Bai G.H., Shaner G. (1996). Variation in Fusarium graminearum and cultivar resistance to wheat scab. Plant Dis, 80: 975-979.
- Bai G.H., Kolb F., Shaner G., Domier L. (1999). AFLP markers linked to one major QTL controlling scab resistance in wheat. Phytopathology, 89: 343-348.
- Bai G.H., Shaner G., and Ohm H. (2000). Inheritance of resistance to Fusarium graminearumin wheat. Theor. Appl. Genet, 100: 1-8.
- Bai G.H., Plattner R.D., Desjardins A. and Kolb F.L. (2001). Resistance to Fusarium head blight and Deoxynivalenol accumulation in wheat. Plant Breeding, 120: 1-6.
- Bai G.H., Guo P.G. and Kolb F.L. (2003a). Genetic relationships among scab-resistant cultivars of wheat based on molecular markers. Crop Science, 43: 498-507.
- Bai G.H., Chen L.F., Shaner G.E. (2003b). Breeding for resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat in China. St Paul, MN. APS Press: 296–317.
- Bai G.H., and Shaner G. (2004). Management and Resistance in Wheat and Barley to Fusarium Head Blight. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 42: 135-161.
- Ban T. (2000). Analysis of quantitative trait loci associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight caused by Fusarium graminearum Schwabe and of resistance mechanisms in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Breed. Sci. 50(2): 131–137.

- Ban T. (2001). Studies on the genetics of resistance to Fusarium head blight caused by F. graminearum Schwabe in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Bull. Kyushu Natl. Agric. Exp. Stn, 38: 27–78.
- Bechtel D.B., Kaleiken L.A., Gaines R.L., Seitz L.M. (1985). The effects of Fusarium graminearum infection on wheat kernels. Cereal Chem, 62: 191–197.
- Bernardo A. N., Ma H.X., Zhang D.D. and Bai G.H. (2012). Single nucleotide polymorphism in wheat chromosome region harboring *Fhb1* for Fusarium head blight resistance. Molecular Breeding, 29 (2): 477-488.
- Botstein D., White R.L., Skolnick M., Davis R.W. (1980). Construction of a genetic linkage map in man using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 32: 314-331.
- Bourdoncle W., and Ohm H.W. (2003). Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight in recombinant inbred wheat lines from the cross Huapei 57-2/Patterson. Euphytica, 131: 131-136.
- Brown R.A., and Brindle K.M. (2007). NMR-based metabolite profiling as potential selection tool for breeding passive resistance against Fusarium head blight (FHB) in wheat. Molecular plant Pathology, 8: 401-410.
- Britten H.B. (1996). Meta-analysis of the association between multilocus heterozygosity and fitness. Evolution, 50 (6): 2158-2164.
- Brennan J.M., Egan D., Cooke B.M. and Doohan F.M. (2005). Effect of temperature on head blight of wheat caused by Fusarium culmorum and F. graminearum. Plant Pathology, 54: 156-160.
- Buerstmayr H., Lemmens M., Ruckenbauer P. (1997). Chromosomal location of Fusarium head blight resistance genes in wheat cereal. Res Commun, 25: 727-728.
- Buerstmayr H., Lemmens M., Fedak G., Ruckenbauer P., and Gill C.B.S. (1999). Back-cross reciprocal monosomic analysis of Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor. Appl. Genet, 98: 76-85.
- Buerstmayr H., lemmens M., Hartl L., Doldi L., Steiner B., Stierschneider M., and Ruckenbauer P. (2002). Molecular mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. I. Resistance to fungal spread (Type II resistance). Theor. Appl. Genet, 104: 84-91.
- Buerstmayr H., Steiner B., Hartl L., Griesser M., Angerer N., Lengauer D., Miedaner T., Schneider B., and Lemmens M. (2003). Molecular mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. II. Resistance to fungal penetration and spread. Theor. Appl. Genet, 107: 503-508.
- Buerstmayr, H., Ban T., and Anderson J.A. (2009). QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat: a review. Plant Breeding, 128: 1-26.

- Buerstmayr M., Lemmens M., Steiner B., Buerstmayr H. (2011). Advanced backcross QTL mapping of resistance to Fusarium head blight and plant morphological traits in a Thiticum macha × T. aestivum population. Theor. Appl. Genet., 123: 293-306.
- Burlakoti R. R., Mergoum M., Kianian S. F., Adhikari T. B. (2010). Combining different resistance components enhances resistance to Fusarium head blight in spring wheat. Euphytica, 172: 197-205.
- Bushnell W.R., Hazen B.E. and Pritsch, C. (2003). Histology and physiology of Fusarium head blight. In Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley (Leonard, K.J. and Bushnell, W.R., eds). St. Paul, MN: APS Press: 44–83.
- Cai X., Chen P.D., Xu S.S., Oliver R.E., and Chen X. (2005). Utilization of alien genes to enhance Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat- A review. Euphytica, 142: 309-318.
- Cai X., Xu S.S., Oliver R.E., Zhang Q., Stack R.W., Zhong S., Friesen T.L., Halley S., and Elias E.M. (2008). Alien introgression for FHB resistance in wheat- challenges and strategies. In R. Appels et al. (ed.) Proc. 11th Inter. Wheat Genet. Symp., Brisbane, Qld, Australia. August 24–29, Sydney Univ. Press, Sydney, Australia.
- Caroline A., Mackintosh J.L., Lorien E., Radmer S., Shin S., Heinen J., Smith L.A., Meagen N.W., Dill-Macky R., Evans C.K., Kravchenko S., Baldridge G.D., Zeyen R.J., Muehlbauer G.J. (2007). Overexpression of defense response genes in transgenic wheat enhances resistance to Fusarium head blight. Plant Cell Rep, 26: 479-488.
- Carolyn M.B. and Kolb F.L. (2009). Resistance to Fusarium head Blight and Kernel Damage in a Winter Wheat Recombinant inbred line Population. Crop Sci. 49: 1304-1312.
- Champeil A., Dore T., and Fourbet J.F. (2004). Fusarium head blight: epidemiological origin of the effects of cultural practices on head blight attacks and the production of mycotoxins by Fusarium in wheat grains. Plant Science, 166: 1389-1415.
- Chen C.H. (1983). A study on the inheritance of scab-resistance in wheat. Acta Agric Univ Zhejiangellsis, 9: 115-126.
- Chen J., Griffey C.A., Maroof M.A.S., Stromberg E.L., Biyashev R.M., Zhao W., M. R., Pridgen T.H., Dong Y., and Zeng Z. (2006). Validation of two major quantitative trait loci for fusarium head blight resistance in Chinese wheat line W14. Plant Breeding, 125: 99-101.
- Chen X.F., Faris J.D., Hu J.G., Stack R.W., Adhikari T., Elias E.M., Kianian S.F., and Cai X.W. (2007). Saturation and comparative mapping of a major Fusarium head blight resistance QTL in tetraploid wheat. Mol. Breed. 19: 113-124.
- Chen W.P., Chen P.D., Liu D.J., Kynast R., Friebe B., Velazhahan R., Muthukrishnan S., Gill B.S. (1999). Development of wheat scab symptoms is delayed in transgenic wheat plants that constitutively express a rice thaumatin-like protein gene. Theor. Appl. Genet., 99: 755-760.

- Chen P., Wang Z., Wang S., Huang Y., Wang Y., Lin D., (1993). Transfer of scab resistance from Elymus giganteus into common wheat In Li Z.S and Zim Z.Y. (eds.). Proceedings of the 8th international wheat genetics symposium, pp: 153-157. Beijing, China: China Agricultural Scientech Press.
- Churchill G.A., and Doerge R.W.(1994). Empirical Threshold Values for Quantitative Trait Mapping Genetics, 138: 963-971.
- Collard B.C.Y., Jahufer M.Z.Z., Brouwer J.B. and Pang E.C.K. (2005). An introduction to markers, quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping and marker-assisted selection for crop improvement: The basic concepts. Euphytica, 142: 169-196.
- Connie S. (2012). Adoption of wheat cultivars with moderate FHB resistance. South Dakota State University Brookings, SD 57007.
- Cuthbert P.A., Somers D.J., Thomas J., Cloutier S., and Brule- Babel A. (2006). Fine mapping Fhb1, a major gene controlling fusarium head blight resistance in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor. Appl. Genet., 112: 1465-1472.
- Cuthbert P.A., Somers D.J., and Brule-Babel A. (2007). Mapping of *Fhb2* on chromosome 6BS: a gene controlling Fusarium head blight field resistance in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor. Appl. Genet, 114: 429-437.
- Darvasi, A., Weinreb A., Minke V., Weller J.I., and Soller M. (1993). Detecting marker-QTL linkage and Estimating QTL Gene Effect and map Location Using a Saturated Genetic Map. Genetics, 134: 943-951.
- De Wolf, E. (2003). Fusarium Head Blight. Pennsylvania State University, 112 Agricultural Administration Building, University Park, PA 16802. This publication is available in alternative media on request.
- Desjardins A., Proctor R.H., Bai G.H., McCormick S.P., Shaner G., Buechley G., Hohn T.M. (1996). Reduced virulence of trichothecene-deficient mutants of Gibberella zeae in wheat field tests. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 9: 775–781.
- Dill-Macky R., and Jones R.K. (2000). The Effect of Previous Crop Residues and Tillage on Fusarium Head. Plant Disease, 84: 71-76.
- Dill-Macky R. (2003). Inoculation methods and evaluation of Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. In: K. J. Leonard, and W. R. Bushnell (eds), Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley, 184-210. The American Phytopathological Society, St Paul, MN.
- Dill-Macky R. (2008). Cultural control practices for Fusarium head blight: Problems and solutions. Cereal Research Communications, 36: 653-657.
- Diamond H., Cooke B.M.(2003). Preliminary studies on biological control of the Fusarium ear blight complex of wheat. Crop Prot, 22: 99–107.
- Ding L., Xu H.B., Yi H.Y., Yang L.M., Kong Z.X., Zhang L.X., Xue S.L., Jia H.Y., Ma Z.Q. (2011). Resistance to Hemi-biotrophic F. graminearum Infection is associated with coordinated and ordered expression of diverse defense signaling pathways. PLoS ONE 6(4), e19008. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019008.
- Doerge R.W., Churchill G.A. (1996) Permutation tests for multiple loci affecting a quantitative character. Genetics, 142: 285-294.
- Draeger R., Gosman N., Steed A., Chandler E., Thomsett M., Schondelmaier S.J., H.,
  Buerstmayr M. Lemmens, Schmolke M., Mesterhazy A., and Nicholson P., (2007)
  Identification of QTLs for resistance to Fusarium head blight, DON accumulation and
  associated traits in the winter wheat variety Arina. Theor. Appl. Genet. 115: 617–625.
- Engle J.S., Lipps P.E., Graham T.L., and Boehm M.J. (2004). Effects of Choline, Betaine, and Wheat Floral Extracts on Growth of Fusarium graminearum. Plant Disease, 88: 175-180.
- Farooq S. and Azam F. (2002). Molecular Markers in Plant Breeding-1: Concepts and Characterization. 5 (10): 1135-1140.
- Fang W.Y., Yen Chi and Yang Jun-Liang (1997). Sources of resistance to head scab in Triticum. Euphytica, 94, 31-36.
- Frances Trail (2009). For Blighted Waves of Grain: Fusarium graminearum in the postgenomics Era. Plant Physiology. 149: 103-101.
- Garvin D.F., Stack R.W., and Hansen J.M. (2009). Quantitative Trait Locus Mapping of Increased Fusarium Head Blight Susceptibility Associated with a Wild Emmer Wheat Chromosome. Phytopathology 99: 447-450.
- George M.L.C., Prasanna B.M., Rathore R.S., Setty T.A.S., Kasim F., M. Azrai S. Vasal, Balla O.D. Hautea, A. Canama, E. Regalado, M. Vargas, M. Khairallah, D. Jeffers & D. Hoisington (2003). Identification of QTL conferring resistance to downy mildews of maize in Asia. Theor Appl Genet, 107: 544–551.
- Gilchrist I. D., Brown, V. & Findlay, J. M (1997). Saccades without eye movements. Nature, 390: 130-131.
- Brown-Guedira, G., Griffey C, Kolb F, Mckendry A, Murphy P. and Sanford D-V. (2008). Breeding FHB- resistant soft winter wheat: progress and prospects. 3rd Int. FHB Symposium, 31-35.
- Gilsinger J., Kong L., Shen X., and Ohm H. (2005). DNA markers associated with low Fusarium head blight incidence and narrow flower opening in wheat. Theor. Appl. Genet, 110: 1218-1225.
- Goswami R.S., & Kistler H.C. (2004). Heading for disaster: Fusarium graminearum on cereal crops. Molecular Plant Pathology, 5: 515-525.

- Grausgruber H., Lemmens M., Burstmayr H., and Ruckenbauer P. (1999). Resistance of 'Chinese Spring' Substitution Lines Carrying Chromosomes from 'Cheyenne', 'Hope' and 'Lutescens 62' Wheats to head Blight Caused by Fusarium Culmorum. Hereditas, 130: 57-63.
- Gupta P.K., Varshney R.K., Sharma P.C., and Ramesh B. (1999). Molecular markers and their applications in wheat breeding. Plant Breeding, 118: 369-390.
- Hackett C.A. & Luo Z.W. (2003). TetraploidMap: Construction of linkage map in Auto tetraploid species. J hered 94(4): 358-359.
- Handa H., N. Namiki, D. Xu, and T. Ban (2008). Dissecting of the FHB resistance QTL on the short arm of wheat chromosome 2D using a comparative genomic approach: from QTL to candidate gene. Mol. Breed. 27: 71-84.
- Haley C. S., and Knott S. A. (1992). A simple regression method for mapping quantitative trait loci in line crosses using flanking markers. Heredity, 69: 315–324.
- Haley C. & Andersson L. (1997). Linkage mapping of quantitative trait loci in plants and animals: 49–71. In: P. Dear (Ed.), Genome mapping–A practical approach, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Haberle J., Schweizer G., Schondelmaier J., Zimmermann G. and Hartl L. (2009). Mapping of QTL for resistance against Fusarium head blight in the winter wheat population Pelikan//Bussard/Ning8026. Plant Breeding, 128: 27-35.
- Henkes G.J., Jousset A., Bonkowski M., Thorpe M.R., Scheu S., lanoue A., Schurr U. and Rose U.S.R. (2011). Pseudomonas fluorescensCHA0 maintains carbon delivery to Fusarium graminearum-infected roots and prevents reduction in biomass of barley shoots through systemic interactions. J. Exp.Bot.,62 (12): 4337-4344.
- Homdork S., Fehrmann H., and Beck R. (2000). Effects of Field Application of Tebuconazole on yield, Yield Components and the Mycotoxin Content of Fusarium-infected Wheat Grain. Journal of phytopathology, 148: 1-6.
- Huang C., Li B., Jiang Y. (1999). Breeding and application of novel wheat cultivar 'Sumai 5'. Jiangsu Academy of Agricultural Science, (1): 11-13.
- Hyne V., Kearsey M.J., Pike D.J., Snape J.W. (1995). QTL analysis: unreliability and bias in estimation procedures. Molecular Breeding, 1: 273–82.
- Jansen C., Wettstein D.V., Scha "fer W., Kogel K.H, Felk A., and Maier F.J. (2005). Infection patterns in barley and wheat spikes inoculated with wild-type and trichodiene synthase gene disrupted Fusarium graminearum. PNAS, (102) 46: 16892-16897.
- Jayatilake D.V, Bai G.H., Dong Y.H. (2011). A novel quantitative trait locus for Fusarium head blight resistance in chromosome 7A of wheat. Theor Appl Genet, 122: 1189-1198.

- Jia G.F., Chen P.D., Qin G.J. (2005a). Comparison of Resistance to FHB in Two DH Populations from Wangshuibai/Alondra's and Sumai 3/Alondra's. Acta Agronomica Sinica, 31: 1179-1185.
- Jia G., Chen P., Qin G., Bai G., Wang X., Wang S., Zhou B., Zhang S., Liu D. (2005b). QTL for Fusarium head blight response in a wheat DH population of Wangshuibai/Alondra,,s. Euphytica, 146: 183-191.
- Jiang G. L., J. R. Shi, and R. W. Ward, (2007a). QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the novel wheat germplasm CJ 9306. I. Resistance to fungal spread. Theor. Appl. Genet. 116: 3-13.
- Jiang G. L., Y. Dong, J. Shi, and R. W. Ward, (2007b). QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the novel wheat germplasm CJ9306. II. Resistance to deoxynivalenol accumulation and grain yield loss. Theor. Appl. Genet, 115: 1043-1052.
- Johnson D.D., Flaskerud G.K., Taylor R.D., Satyanarayana V. (1998). Economic Impacts of Fusarium Head Blight in Wheat. Agricultural Economics Report No. 396. Department of Agricultural Economics, North Dakota State University, Fargo.
- Jordan S.A., Humphries P. (1994). Single nucleotide polymorphism in exon 2 of the BCP gene on 7q31-q35. Hum. Mol. Genet., 3: 1915.
- Kang Z., Buchenauer H. (1999). Immunocytochemical localization of Fusarium toxins in infected wheat spikes by Fusarium culmorum. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol, 55(2):75–88.
- Kearsey M.J. (1998). The principles of QTL analysis (a minimal mathematics approach). Journal of Experimental Botany. 49(327): 1619-1623.
- Khan M.R., Doohan F.M.(2009). Comparison of the efficacy of chitosan with that of a fluorescent pseudomonad for the control of Fusarium head blight disease of cereals and associated mycotoxin contamination of grain. Biological Control, 48: 48-54.
- Klahr, A., Zimmermann G., Wenzel G., and Mohler V., 2007: Effects of environment, disease progress, plant height and heading date on the detection of QTLs for resistance to Fusarium head blight in an European winter wheat cross. Euphytica, 154: 17-28.
- Kosambi D.D. (1944): The estimation of map distance from recombination values, Annals of Eugenics, 12(3): 172-175.
- Korzum V., RÖder M.S., Ganal M.W., Worland A.J., Law C.N. (1998) Genetic analysis of the dwarfing gene (Rht8) in wheat. Part I. Molecular mapping of Rht8 on the short arm of chromosome 2D of bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor Appl Genet, 96: 1104– 1109.
- Kolb F.L., Bai G.H., Muehlbauer G.J., Anderson J.A., Smith K.P., and gedak G. (2001). Host plant resistance genes for Fusarium head blight: Mapping and manipulation with molecular markers. Crop Sci 41: 611-619.

- Krebs H., Dubois D., Kulling C., Forrer H.R. (2000). The effects of preceding crop and tillage on the incidence of Fusarium spp. And mycotoxin deoxynivalenol content in winter wheat grain. Agrarforschung, (7): 264–268.
- Lander E.S. and Botsein D.(1989). Mapping Mendelian Factor underlying Quatitative Traits using RFLP linkage maps. Genetics, 121: 185-199.
- Lander E., Kruglyak L. (1995). Genetic dissection of complex traits: guidelines for interpreting and reporting linkage results. Nat. Genet, 11(3): 241-247.
- Lemmens M., Scholz U., Berthiller F., Dall'Asta C., Koutnik A., Schuhmacher R., Adam G., Buerstmayr H., Mesterhà zy Ãk., Krska R., Ruckenbauer P. (2005) The Ability to Detoxify the Mycotoxin Deoxynivalenol Colocalizes With a Major Quantitative Trait Locus for Fusarium Head Blight Resistance in Wheat. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions, 18: 1318-1324.
- Liu B. (1998). Statistical Genomics: Linkage, Mapping and QTL Analysis CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Li G., and Yen Y. (2008). Jasmonate and Ethylene Signaling Pathway may mediate Fusarium Head Blight Resistance in Wheat. Crop Sci, 48: 1888-1896.
- Li Z., Jakkula L., Hussey R.S., Tamulonis J.P. and Boerma H.R. (2001). SSR mapping and confirmation of the QTL from PI96354 conditioning soybean resistance to southern rootknot nematode. Theor Appl Genet 103: 1167–1173.
- Li X., Zhang J.B., Song B., Li H.P., Xu H.Q., Qu B., Dang F.J., and Liao Y.C. (2010). Resistance to Fusarium Head Blight and Seedling Blight in Wheat Is Associated with Activation of a Cytochrome P450 Gene. Genetics and Resistance, 100 (2): 183-191.
- Li T., Bai G.H., Wu S.Y., Gu S.L. (2011). Quantitative trait loci for resistance to fusarium head blight in a Chinese wheat landrace Haiyanzhong. Theor Appl Genet, 122: 1497-1502.
- Li T., Bai G.H., Wu S.Y., Gu S.L. (2012). Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight in the Chinese wheat landrace Huangfangzhu. Euphytica, DOI 10.1007/s10681-012-0631-2.
- Li Z., Jakkula L., Hussey R.S., Tamulonis J.P. and Boerma H.R. (2001). SSR mapping and confirmation of the QTL from PI96354 conditioning soybean resistance to southern root-knot nematode. Theor Appl Genet, 103: 1167–1173.
- Lin F., Xue S.L., Zhang Z.Z., Zhang C.Q., Kong Z.X., Yao G.Q., Tian D.G., Zhu H.L., Li C.J., Cao Y., Wei J.B., Luo Q.Y., Ma Z.Q. (2006). Mapping QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in the Nanda2419 × Wangshuibai population. II: Type I resistance. Theor Appl Genet, 112: 528–535.
- Lin F., Kong Z.X., Zhu H.L., Xue S.L., Wu J.Z., Tian D.G., Wei J.B., Zhang C.Q., Ma Z.Q. (2004). Mapping QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in the

Nanda2419  $\times$  Wangshuibai population. I. Type II resistance. Theor Appl Genet, 109: 1504–1511.

- Liddell C. (2003). Systematics of Fusarium graminearum species and allies associated with Fusarium head blight. In: Leonard, K., Bushnel, W. (Eds.), Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. APS Press, Minnesota, USA, 35–43.
- Liu S., and J. A. Anderson, (2003). Marker assisted evaluation of Fusarium head blight resistant wheat germplasm. Crop Sci., 43: 760-766.
- Liu S., Abate Z.A., Lu H., Musket T., Davis G.L., and McKendry A.L. (2007). QTL associated with Fusarium head blight resistance in the soft red winter wheat Ernie. Theor. Appl. Genet., 115: 417-427.
- Liu S., Hall M.D., Griffey C.A., and McKendry A.L. (2009). Meta-Analysis of QTL Associated with Fusarium head Blight Resistance in Wheat. Crop Sci., 49: 1955-1968.
- Liao Y.C. and Yu Y.J. (1985). Genetic analysis of scab resistance in the local wheat varietyWangshuibai. J Hauzhong Agric University, 4: 6–14.
- Loffler M., Schon C.C., and Miedaner T. (2009). Revealing the genetic architecture of FHB resistance in hexaploid wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) by QTL meta-analysis. Mol. Breed. 23: 473–488.
- Lu W.Z., Cheng S.H., Wang Y.Z., (2001). Wheat Scab Reseach in China, Sience Press, Beijing, 17.
- Manly K.F., Olson J.M. (1999). Overview of QTL mapping software and introduction to Map Manager QT. Mammalian Genome, 10: 327-334.
- Market C.L. and F. Moller (1959). Multiple forms of enzymes: tissue, ontogenetic and species specific pattern. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA, 45, 753-763.
- Makandar R., Essig J.S., Schapaugh M.A., Trick H.N., Shah J. (2006). Genetically engineered resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat by expression of Arabidopsis NPR1. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions, 19: 123–129.
- Mardi M., Pazouki L., Delavar H., Kazemi M.B., Ghareyazie B., Steiner B., Nolz R., Lemmens M., Buerstmayr H. (2006). QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a 'Frontana'-derived population. Plant Breeding, 125: 313-317.
- Ma H.X., Bai G.H., Gill B.S., Hart L.P. (2006a). Deletion of a Chromosome Arm Altered Wheat Resistance to Fusarium Head Blight and Deoxynivalenol Accumulation in Chinese Spring. Plant Disease, 90: 1545-1549.
- Ma H.X., Bai G.H., Zhang X., Lu W.Z. (2006b) Main Effects, Epistasis, and Environmental Interactions of Quantitative Trait Loci for Fusarium Head Blight Resistance in a Recombinant Inbred Population. Phytopathology, 96: 534-541.

- Ma H.X., Zhang K.M., Gao L., Bai G.H., Chen H.G., Cai Z.X., Lu W.Z. (2006c). Quantitative trait loci for resistance to fusarium head blight and deoxynivalenol accumulation in Wangshuibai wheat under field conditions. Plant Pathology, 55: 739-745.
- McCartney C.A., Somers D.J., Fedak G., Cao W. (2004). Haplotype diversity at fusarium head blight resistance QTL in wheat. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 109: 261-271.
- McMullen M., Jones R., Gallenberg D. (1997). Scab of wheat and barley: a re-emerging disease of devastating impact, Plant Dis. 81: 1340–1348.
- McKendry A. (2008). Native Resistance: An Essential Building Block for Accelerating the Development of Scab Resistant Soft Red Winter Wheat. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Symposium on Fusarium Head Blight; 2008 Sept. 1-5; Szeged, Hungary, Cereal Research Communications (IF: 1.037).
- Mesterhazy A. (1995). Types and components of resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat. Plant Breeding, 114: 377-386.
- Mesterh ázy Á., Bart ók T., Mirocha C.G., Komor óczy R. (1999). Nature of wheat resistance to Fusarium head blight and the role of deoxynivalenol for breeding. Plant Breeding, 118: 97-110.
- Mergoum M, Frohberg R.C., Stack R.W. (2007). Breeding hard red spring wheat for Fusarium head blight resistance, successes and challenges. In: Buck HT, Nisi JE, Salomo n N (eds) Wheat production in stressed environments. Springer, Netherlands, 12: 161–167.
- Miller J.D., Young J.C. and Sampson D.R. (1985). Deoxynivalenol and Fusarium head blight resistance in spring cereals. J Phytopathol, 113: 359–367.
- Miller R.G. (1981).Simultaneous Statistical Inference 2nd Ed. Springer Verlag New York. ISBN 0-387-90548-0.
- Mirocha C.J., Kolaczkowski E., Xie W., Yu H., Jelen H. (1998). Analysis of Deoxynivalenol and Its Derivatives (Batch and Single Kernel) Using Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 46: 1414-1418.
- Mohan M., Nair S., Bhagwat A., Krishna T.G., Yano M., Bhatia C.R. and Sasaki T. (1997). Genome mapping, molecular markers and marker-assisted selection in crop plants. Mol Breed, 3: 87–103.
- Olsen P.E., Schlische R.W., and Gore J.W. (1989). Tectonic, depositional, and paleoecological history of Early Mesozoic rift basins, eastern North America (International Geological Congress field trip guidebook T351): Washington, D.C., American Geophysical Union, 174 p.
- Parry D.W., Jenkinson P., and McLeod L. (1995). Fusarium ear blight (scab) in small grain cereals a review. Plant Pathol, 44: 207-238.

- Pena R.C. de la, Smith K.P., Capettini F., Muehlbauer G.J., Gallo-Meagher M, et al. (1999). Quantitative trait loci associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight and kernel discoloration in barley. Theor. Appl. Genet, 99: 561–69.
- Petti C., Khan, M. and Doohan, F. (2010). Lipid transfer proteins and protease inhibitors as key factors in the priming of barley responses to Fusarium head blight disease by a biocontrol strain of Pseudomonas fluorescens. Funct. Integr. Genomics, 10: 619–627.
- Pritsch C., Muehlbauer G.J., Bushnell W.R., Somers D.A., Vance C.P. (1999). Fungal development and induction of defense response genes during early infection of wheat spikes by Fusarium graminearum. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact, 13: 159–169.
- Pumphrey M.O., Bernardo R., Anderson J.A. (2007). Validating the *Fhb1* QTL for Fusarium Head Blight Resistance in Near-Isogenic Wheat Lines Developed from Breeding Populations. Crop Science, 47: 200-206.
- Qi L.L., Pumphrey M.O., Friebe B., Chen P.D., Gill B.S. (2008). Molecular cytogenetic characterization of alien introgressions with gene Fhb3 for resistance to Fusarium head blight disease of wheat. Theor Appl Genet, 117: 1155–1166.
- Ribichich K.F., Lopez S.E., Vegetti A.C. (2000). Histopathological Spikelet Changes Produced by Fusarium graminearum in Susceptible and Resistant Wheat Cultivars. Plant Disease, 84: 794-802.
- Roder M.S., Korzun V., Wendehake K., Plaschke J., Tixier M.H., Leroy P., Ganal M.W. (1998). A Microsatellite Map of Wheat. Genetics, 149: 2007-2023.
- Rossi V., Ravanetti A., Pattori E. and Giosue S. (2001). Influence of temperature and humidity on the infection of wheat spikes by some fungi causing Fusarium head blight. Journal of Plant Pathology, 83: 189–198.
- Rudd J.C., Horsley R.D., McKendry A.L., Elias E.M. (2001). Host Plant Resistance Genes for Fusarium Head Blight: Sources, Mechanisms, and Utility in Conventional Breeding Systems. Crop Science, 41: 620-627.
- Saghai-Maroof M.A., Soliman K.M., Jorgensen R.A., Allard R.W. (1984) Ribosomal DNA Spacer-Length Polymorphisms in Barley: Mendelian Inheritance, Chromosomal Location, and Population Dynamics. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 81: 8014-8018.
- Sax K. (1923). The association of size differences with seed-coat pattern and pigmentation in Phaseolus vulgaris. Genetics, 8: 552–560.
- Schroeder H.W. and Christensen J.J. (1963). Factors affecting resistance of wheat to scab caused by Gibberella zeae. Phytopathology, 53: 831-838.

- Schmolke M., Zimmermann G., Buerstmayr H., Schweizer G., Miedaner T., Korzun V., Ebmeyer E., and Hartl L. (2005). Molecular mapping of Fusarium head blight resistance in the winter wheat population Dream/Lynx. Theor. Appl. Genet. 111: 747-756.
- Schmolke M., Zimmermann G., Schweizer G., Miedaner T., Korzun V., Ebmeyer E., and Hartl L. (2008). Molecular mapping of quantitative trait loci for field resistance to Fusarium head blight in a European winter wheat population. Plant Breeding, 127: 459-464.
- Semagn K., Skinnes H., Bjornstad A., Maroy A.G., Tarkegne Y. (2007) Quantitative Trait Loci Controlling Fusarium Head Blight Resistance and Low Deoxynivalenol Content in Hexaploid Wheat Population from 'Arina' and NK93604. Crop Science, 47: 294-303.
- Shi J.R., Xu D.H., Yang H.Y., Lu Q.X., and Ban T. (2008), DNA marker analysis for pyramided of Fusarium head blight (FHB) resistance QTL from different germplasm. Genetica, 133: 77-84.
- Shin S., Mackintosh C.A., Lewis J., Heinen S.J., Radmer L., Dill-Macky R., Baldridge G.D., Zeyen R.J., and Muehlbauer G.J. (2008). Transgenic wheat expressing a barley class II chitinase gene has enhaced resistance against Fusarium graminearum. J Exp Bot, 59(9): 2371–2378.
- Shen X.R., Ittu M., and Ohm H.W. (2003). Quantitative trait loci conditioning resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat line F201R. Crop Sci, 43: 850-857.
- Shaner G.E. (2002). Resistance in hexaploid wheat to Fusarium head blight. Natl. Fusarium Head Blight Forum Proc. Elanger, KY, pp. 208–11. East Lansing: MI State Univ. Press.
- Shen X.R., Zhou M., Lu W., Ohm H. (2003). Detection of Fusarium head blight resistance QTL in a wheat population using bulked segregant analysis. Theor. Appl. Genet, 106: 1041–1047.
- Singh R.P., van Ginkel M. (1997). Breeding strategies for introgressing diverse scab resistance into adapted wheat. pp. 86–92 CIMMYT, Mexico, D.F., Mexico.
- Sun G., Bond M., Nass H., Martin R., and Dong Z. (2003). RAPD polymorphisms in spring wheat cultivars and lines with different level of Fusarium resistance. Theor. Appl. Genet. 106: 1059-1067.
- Somers D.J., Fedak G., Savard M. (2003). Molecular mapping of novel genes controlling Fusarium head blight resistance and deoxynivalenol accumulation in spring wheat. Genome, 46: 555-564.
- Somers D.J., Isaac P, Edwards K (2004). A high-density microsatellite consensus map for bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor. Appl. Genet., 109: 1105-1114.
- Srinivasachary N.G., Steed A., Faure S., Bayles R., Jennings P. and Nicholson P. (2008). Mapping of QTL associated with Fusrium head Blight in Spring Wheat RL4137. Czech J. Genet. Plant Breed., 44 (4): 147-159.

- Stadler L.J. (1929). Chromosome number-and the mutation rate in Avena and Triticum. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, 15: 876-881.
- Steffenson B.J. (2003). Fusarium head blight of barley: impact, epidemics, management, and strategies for identifying and utilizing genetic resistance. Fusarium head blight of wheat and barley: 241-295.
- Steiner B., Lemmens M., Griesser M., Scholz U., Schondelmaier J., Buerstmayr H. (2004). Molecular mapping of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the spring wheat cultivar Frontana. Theor. Appl. Genet., 109: 215-224.
- Tanksley S. (1983). Molecular markers in plant breeding. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter, 1: 3-8.
- Tanksley S.D. (1993). Mapping polygenes. Annual Review of Genetics, 27: 205–233.
- Teich A.H. (1989). In: Fusarium Mycotoxins, Taxonomy and Pathologenicity. Ed. Chelkowski J. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 269-282.
- Thoday, J.M., (1961). Location of polygenes. Nature, 191, 368-370. VANDEWLAJN. KE., 1984 DiseaseR esistance in Plants, Ed. 2. Academic Press. Orlando. Fla.
- T áth B., K ászonyi G., Bart ák T., Varga J., Mesterh ázy Á. (2008). Common resistance of wheat to members of the Fusarium graminearum species complex and F. culmorum. Plant Breeding, 127: 1-8.
- Van Ooijen J.W., Voorrips R.E. (2001) JoinMap® 3.0, Software for the calculation of genetic linkage maps., 3.0 edn. Plant Research International, Wageningen, the Netherlands.
- Veyrieras J.B., Goffinet B. and Charcosset A., (2005). MetaQTL, Version 1.0. INRA, France.
- Veyrieras J.B., Goffinet B. and Charcosset A., (2007). MetaQTL: a package of new computational methods for the meta-analysis of QTL mapping experiments. BMC Bioinformatics 8: 49.
- Voorrips R.E. 2002. MapChart: Software for the graphical presentation of linkage maps and QTLs. J. Hered, 93: 77–78.
- Vos P., Hogers R., Bleeker M., Reijans M., Van de Lee T, Hornes M., Frijter A., Pot J., Peleman J., Kuiper M., et al. (1995). 23(21): 4407-14.
- Wang J., Li H., Zhang L., Li C., Meng L. (2011) QTL IciMapping v3.1. Institute of Crop Science Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (CAAS), Beijing, China and Crop Research Informatics Lab, International maize and wheat improvement center (CIMMYT) Apdo, D.F., Mexico.

- Wang S., Basten C.J., Zeng Z.B. (2006) Windows QTL Cartographer 2.5. Available at statgen.ncsu.edu/qtlcart/WQTLCart.htm (verified 28 May 2008). Dept. of Statistics, North Carolina State Univ., Raleigh.
- Waldron B.L., Moreno-Sevilla B., Anderson J.A., Stack R.W., Frohberg R.C. (1999). RFLP mapping of QTL for fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Crop Science, 39: 805-811.
- Wegulo S.N., Bockus, W.W., Hernandez Nopsa J., De Wolf E.D., Eskridge K.M., Peiris K.H.S., and Dowell F.E. (2011). Effects of integrating cultivar resistance and fungicide application on Fusarium head blight and deoxynivalenol in winter wheat. Plant Dis., 95: 554-560.
- Webster J. and Weber W.S. (2007). Introduction to Fungi. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Williams J.G.K., Kubelik A.R., Livak K.J., Rafalski K.J. and Tingey S.V., (1990). DNA polymorphism amplified by arbitrary primers is useful as genetic markers. Nucl. Acids. Res., 18: 6531-6535.
- Nganje W.E., Kaitibie S., Wilson W.W., Leistritz F.L., and Bangsund D.A. (2004). Economic Impacts of Fusarium Head Blight in Wheat and Barley: 1993-2001. Agribusiness and Applied Economics Report No. 538.
- Worland A.J., Gale M.D. and Law C.N. (1987). Wheat genetics. In: Wheat Breeding: Its Scientific Principles (Lupton, F. J. H. Ed.), Chapman and Hill, London, UK: 129-172.
- Xu X., Nicholson P. (2009). Community Ecology of Fungal Pathogens Causing Wheat Head Blight. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 47: 83-103.
- Xu D.H., Juan H.F., Nohda M., and Ban T. (2001) 2001 National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. 40-42.
- Xue S., Xu F., Tang M., Wang Y., An X., Zhang L., Kong Z., Ma Z. (2010) Fine mapping *Fhb4*, a major QTL conditioning resistance to Fusarium infection in bread wheat (Triticum aetivum L.). Theor. Appl. Genet., 121: 147-156.
- Xue S., Xu F., Tang M., Zhou Y., Li G., An X., Lin F., Xu H., Jia H., Zhang L., Kong Z., Ma Z. (2011). Precise mapping *Fhb5*, a major QTL conditioning resistance to Fusarium infection in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 123(6): 1055-1063.
- Yang J., Bai G., Shaner G. (2005a). Novel quantitative trait loci (QTL) for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat cultivar Chokwang. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 111: 1571-1579.
- Yang Z., Gilbert J., Fedak G., Somers D.J. (2005b). Genetic characterization of QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in a doubled-haploid spring wheat population. Genome, 48: 187-196.

- Yao J.B., Ge Y.F., Wang S.W., Yao G.C., Zhou C.F., Qian C.M. (1997). Chromosomal location of genes for scab resistance in wheat cultivar Sumai 3. Acta Agron. Sin. 23: 450–453.
- Young N.D. (1996). QTL mapping and quantitative disease resistance in plants. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 34: 479-501.
- Yu G., Ma H., Bai G., Tang K. (2008a). Single-strand conformational polymorphism markers associated with a major QTL for fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Molecular Biology 42: 504-513.
- Yu J.B., Bai G.H., Cai S.B., Dong Y.H., Ban T. (2008b). New Fusarium Head Blight-Resistant Sources from Asian Wheat Germplasm. Crop Science, 48: 1090-1097.
- Yu J.B., Bai G.H., Zhou W.C., Dong Y.H., Kolb F.L. (2008c). Quantitative Trait Loci for Fusarium Head Blight Resistance in a Recombinant Inbred Population of Wangshuibai/Wheaton. Phytopathology, 98: 87-94.
- Zeng Z.B. (1993). Theoretical basis for separation of multiple linked gene effects in mapping quantitative trait loci. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 90: 10972-10976.
- Zeng Z.B. (1994). Precision Mapping of Quantitative Trait Loci. Genetics, 136: 1457-1468.
- Zhang X., Zhou M., Ren L., Bai G., Ma H., Scholten O.E., Guo P., Lu W. (2004). Molecular characterization of Fusarium head blight resistance from wheat variety Wangshuibai. Euphytica, 139: 59-64.
- Zhang X., Pan H., Bai G. (2012). Quantitative trait loci responsible for Fusarium head blight resistance in Chinese landrace Baishanyuehuang. Theor. Appl. Genet. online.
- Zhang M., Zhang R., Yang J., Luo P. (2010). Identification of a new QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in the wheat genotype "Wang shui-Bai". Mol Biol Rep, 37: 1031-1035.
- Zhou W.C., Kolb F.L., Bai G.H., Shaner G.E., Domier L.L. (2002a). Genetic analysis of scab resistance QTL in wheat with microsatellite and AFLP markers. Genome 45: 719–727.
- Zhou W.C., Kolb F.L., Bai G.H., Domier L.L., Yao J.B. (2002b). Effect of individual Sumai 3 chromosomes on resistance to scab spread within spikes and deoxynivalenol accumulation within kernels in wheat. Hereditas, 137: 81-89.
- Zhou W., Kolb F.L., Yu J., Bai G., Boze L.K., Domier L.L. (2004). Molecular characterization of Fusarium head blight resistance in Wangshuibai with simple sequence repeat and amplified fragment length polymorphism markers. Genome, 47: 1137-1143.
- Zhou W.C., Kolb F.L., Bai G.H., Domier L.L., Boze L.K., Smith N.J. (2003). Validation of a major QTL for scab resistance with SSR markers and use of marker-assisted selection in wheat. Plant Breeding, 122: 40-46.